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2 Introduction

2015 has been a busy year with some important and
exciting developments.
The Pathology Alliance has been re-invigorated to bring
together the main professional bodies in pathology.
The Alliance is providing ‘one voice’ for pathology with an
ability to collate joint responses at short turnaround. This
is important when there is a need to provide a pathology
opinion on important issues such as seven day services and
the Cancer Taskforce Report on achieving world-class
cancer outcomes.
The Pathology Quality Assurance Review (PQAR) was
launched at FiLM (Frontiers in Laboratory Medicine) in 2014
and the Pathology Quality Assurance Oversight group was
set up to deliver it. Membership comprises representatives
of the Care Quality Commission (CQC), Department of
Health (England), NHS England, the National Clinical
Director for Pathology, the Chief Scientific Officer for NHS
England, Public Health England (PHE), National Institute
for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), Medicines and
Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (MHRA), UK
Accreditation Service (UKAS), Health Education England
(HEE), Health and Care Information Service (HSCIC),
NHS Confederation, The Royal College of Pathologists,
this Association, the Institute of Biomedical Sciences
(IBMS), Joint Working Group on Quality Assurance (JWGQA)
and the British in Vitro Diagnostics Association (BIVDA);
there is also patient representation. It met only once.
The PQAR programme has halted owing to removal of
funding and although the personal proficiency paper has
been issued by the RCPath and ACB, it is unclear how this
will be implemented and supported by the NHS. A Quality
Assurance Management Group has been established, hosted
by the College, in order that the professional bodies can
try to deliver some of the recommendations of the PQAR
report. This will depend on the time and enthusiasm of the
professions and it is disappointing that so much time and
effort went into producing the report without setting aside
the funds to deliver it.
One of the elements of the PQAR is the introduction of a
Pathology Dashboard. This is the only funded piece of work
from the project and should be complete early in 2016.
It is essential that professionals are allowed to contribute
to its development, as we understand what is possible,
desirable and practical. A Pathology Informatics Group is
being set up to try and take forward some of the National
Laboratory Medicine Catalogue (NLMC) work, which
stopped when its funding was withdrawn.
2015 was a great year for meetings. FiLM took its usual slot
at Austin Court in January 2015 and it is encouraging to see
how it attracts participants from all walks of pathology and
management: in fact the majority were not from clinical
biochemistry. Focus was held in Cardiff in June 2015 and

was a scientific success. The Association’s thanks and
congratulations are due to the organising committee for
this achievement. Feedback from the Focus survey of ACB
members suggested that members would like slightly
shorter meetings, with less expensive registration and a
central location for ease of travel. In organising Focus 2016
at Warwick, we have begun to respond to these comments
while Focus 2017 will give us an opportunity to make more
fundamental changes.
It was a joy to host the ACB Awards ceremony in July 2015
and to honour so many of our friends and colleagues who
have given so much to the profession and the Association.
Stephen Halloran’s thank you letter to Council was
touching and I had it published in ACB News so that
everyone could read it and appreciate how valued the
ACB is.
One of my biggest concerns is around workforce planning
and the current training numbers for both scientists and
medical staff. There are insufficient training places and we
are not even recruiting enough people to fill the places
that we have got. The financial situation across the NHS
does not help the situation, with some trusts struggling to
support trainees.
I particularly want to recognise the hard work that
Maurice O’Kane (Director of Clinical Practice) and
Chris Chaloner (Director of Scientific Affairs) have put in
during the year. Maurice has led the CPS on a range of
projects including adjusted calcium, troponin testing and
reflective testing. Chris and his committee have been
working on the CKD-EPI (Chronic Kidney Disease
Epidemiology Collaboration) and faecal occult blood
testing alongside the UK National Screening Committee.
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They are also working with Carla Deakin on the NICE
Diagnostics Assessment Programme.
This year we have heard of the deaths of 13 ACB members:
they were Mr Steffan Evans, Mr John Fenwick, Professor
Adam Fleck, Dr Alan Green, Dr David Duncan Kennedy,
Dr Ian Leggate, Professor Donald Moss, Dr Nuala McCarroll,
Mr Ramesh Motwani, Dr Angela Parnham, Dr Brenda Slavin,
Dr Mike Toop and Dr Paul Trinder. Adam Fleck was a
President of the ACB, Donald Moss a President and
Chairman, and Mike Toop set up and was the first Chairman
of the Clinical Practice Section. We owe them all a debt of
gratitude.
Looking forward, the ACB is excited to be involved in the
NICE Diagnostics Services Guidelines. The Department of
Health in England and NHS England have asked NICE to
develop service guidance on the organisation and delivery
of diagnostic services. The scope is wide-ranging and will
cover organisation and delivery of diagnostic services,
information and support for users, how services are
grouped and accessed. There will also be guidance on
service delivery including location, point-of-care-testing,
operating hours etc. ACB has nominated two individuals for
the strategy guideline development group and we are
delighted to be able to input into this important project.
I have enjoyed working with my colleagues on Executive
and Council and thank them for their support during the
year. Grateful thanks are also due to our permanent staff,
who run the organisation on a day-to-day basis and are
always ready to help.

Dr Gwyn McCreanor
President

ACB Membership Award winners presented at the Council meeting on 9th July 2015 (left to right): Geoff Lester – Emeritus,
Ian Holbrook – Fellow, Robert Hill – Emeritus, Doris-Ann Williams MBE – Friend, Steve Smith – Emeritus, Stephen Halloran MBE – Honorary,
Andy Bufton – Friend, Gwyn McCreanor – (ACB President), Elizabeth Boxall – Fellow, Mike Thomas – Emeritus

4 Association Awards

Association
Awards

5Foundation Award

Professor Stephen Halloran
with Professor Eric Kilpatrick

5Professors’ Prize Lecture

Dr Jason Gill with Professor William Fraser

5ACB Medal Award Dr Danja Schulenburg-Brand
with Professor Eric Kilpatrick

Association Awards 5

5Transatlantic Lecture Dr David Koch
with Dr Gwyn McCreanor

5President’s Shield

5Flynn Lecture Dr Ian Barnes with
Dr David Cassidy

Mr Neil Anderson and Dr Kathryn Brownbill with Professor Eric Kilpatrick

6 Education Committee

This year has seen the Education Committee and the
Regional Tutors organising a number of training events for
our members. The members of the committees have also
supported the National School of Healthcare Science
(NSHCS) during the Scientist Training Programme (STP)
and Higher Specialist Scientific Training programme (HSST)
recruitment rounds and the NSHCS Objective Structured
Final Assessments (OSFAs).

presentations and their quality augurs well for the future of
the profession.

The morning session of the training day at Focus in Cardiff
was led by Rachel Carling and looked at the importance of
the multidisciplinary team approach to the Newborn
Screening Programme. The number of conditions screened
by the programme has changed recently and the session
gave the trainees an insight into the co-ordination required
between all members of the multidisciplinary team to
ensure abnormal results are acted on promptly. There
were two parts to the afternoon with Tim James leading
on trouble shooting in the laboratory and Gilbert Wieringa
giving topical tips how to survive the FRCPath practical
examination.

Rachel Webster ran a two-day training course in Birmingham
in October. The course concentrated on skills development
rather than textbook knowledge and was well received.

The ACB Medal Award took place at Focus and six trainees
were shortlisted. It was a pleasure to listen to the

Director: Dr Frances Boa
Deputy Director: Mrs Hazel Borthwick

Sally Benton and her team organised the biennial ACB
Management and Leadership Course at the University of
Surrey in July. The course has always received very positive
feedback from the trainees and the next course will be in
2017.

The Education Committee had the pleasure of awarding
travel bursaries to the following members of the association
during 2015:
Frances Bolt – European Society of Clinical Microbiology
and Infectious Diseases
Kia Langford-Smith – Focus 2015
Nicola Svenson – American Society of Haematology

Education Committee
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Engaging with external bodies
The Scientific Committee continues to build close
relationships with external bodies and our membership has
joined numerous NICE Guideline Groups and Diagnostics
Assessment Panels over the last 12 months, including those
reviewing procalcitonin and neonatal jaundice. The
committee has also been engaged with cognate European
Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine
(EFLM) and International Federation of Clinical Chemistry
(IFCC) committees, the Professional Scientific Advisory
Board of the Academy for Healthcare Science, and has
registered as stakeholder in the NICE Diagnostics Review
panel and the National Colorectal Cancer Screening Group.
ACB Scholarships
The ACB Scholarship scheme is a key element of the ACB
strategy to support science and the performance of high
quality scientific research. The goal is to support original
research with the twin aims of supporting work that
develops scientific knowledge, experience and competence
among our members and a focus on work that will impact
and benefit patients. We remain delighted with the quality
and quantity of applications received, and although we have
previously sought to support all scientifically valid and
achievable projects, we are finding it increasingly difficult
to justify offering less than 100% funding to the highest
scoring projects.
We are currently reviewing the awards criteria and ACB
Executive has asked us to update the peer review process to
ensure that the best projects receive full funding so it is
likely that we will change to a formula whereby those
projects with the highest allocated score will receive full
funding and those applications falling below the qualifying
score will not be funded at all. Once again I wish to thank
all scientific committee members who have contributed to
the rigorous process of peer-review of applications,
co-ordinated by Alexandra Yates; I would like particularly
to highlight the input of Rob Shorten, Berne Ferry, Dimitris
Grammatopoulos, David Gaze and William Finch, who have
all provided valuable scientific insight into different
subspecialisms of Laboratory Medicine during the 2015
peer review process. Special thanks are also due to all of

our members who have applied for a scholarship or have
supported applicants.
Traceability of Calibration Special Interest Group
Scientific Committee has asked Drs Andrew Taylor and Phil
Monaghan to lead a task and finish group looking at the
traceability of calibrators across common assays and engage
with manufacturers to find ways to fill the gaps, and this
process has gathered momentum during 2015.
Clinical LC-MS Special Interest Group
The Clinical LC-MS subgroup, chaired by Laura Owen,
continue with their aims to provide training and education
in the area of mass spectrometry. A national meeting has
been organised in February 2016 on MS and the UK
Accreditation Service (UKAS) followed by an autumn
training meeting covering more practical aspects of
working with MS.
The Clinical Sciences Review Committee (CSRC)
The CSRC, chaired by Dr David Gaze, is a sub-committee of
the Scientific Committee responsible for the commissioning
of reviews, commentaries, personal views and point versus
counterpoint arguments on all aspects of clinical
biochemistry and laboratory medicine. These are normally
published in Annals of Clinical Biochemistry or other
journals as appropriate. The chair of CSRC is a member of
the Scientific Committee and reports to it, thus allowing
the Scientific Committee to ensure that CSRC fulfils its
objectives to a high standard. During the past year, a record
number of completed reviews have been presented to the
Editor-in-Chief of the Annals for publication. Their titles
are listed below. In addition, the committee are pursuing
26 reviews and considering proposals for a further 30.
ACB involvement with NICE guidelines
Over the last year, Owen Driskell has continued in the role
of recruitment of expert members to join the guideline
development groups and comment on guideline drafts.
This important activity is another key element of the ACB
strategy to increase the profile and influence of the
association in setting scientific policy with regard to the
adoption of new test technologies for diagnosis, monitoring

Project
Number

Author(s)

Title

Published

3-08

Sarah Beck, Bob Lock

Uncertainty of measurement: an immunology perspective

January 2015

13-07

Joanne Adaway,
Brian Keevil, Laura Owen

Liquid chromatography tandem MS in the
clinical laboratory

January 2015

12-02

Nigel Kanagasundaram

Pathophysiology of acute kidney injury

March 2015

15-03

Junji Kobayashi,
Hiroshi Mabuchi

Lipoprotein lipase and atherosclerosis
November 2015

Scientific Committee
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and screening in clinical medicine. This approach continues
to contribute significantly to the development of NICE
guideline documents, making their implementation more
relevant and evidence-based. The list of guidelines in which
the ACB has been involved appears in the Science Section of
the website. Owen and I would like to thank ACB members
who have given their time so freely to this activity.
ACB Scientific Committee initiatives
The committee has provided guidance on units of
measurement and reporting for ethanol, (‘Position
statement on reporting blood ethanol’, published in ACB
News March 2015). It is in the process of encouraging
manufacturers of laboratory information management
systems (LIMS) to enable adoption of the CKD-EPI eGfR
(Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration
estimated glomerular filtration rate) calculation and
determine how this might be able to feed in to the
CKD Assist programme.
National Clinical Biochemistry Audit Group (NCBAG)
The NCBAG, chaired by Annette Thomas, is a sub-committee
of the Scientific Committee responsible for promoting and

commissioning national audits of the service, and collating
and disseminating audits and best practice guidelines from
the ACB Regions. The following national audits were
commissioned and presented at the ACB Focus meeting in
2015: ‘The use of HBA1c in the diagnosis of diabetes
mellitus’ (Sarah Robinson) and ‘Testing for the
(peri)menopause’ (Annie Armiston). Topics of local audits
presented at Focus included: serum peanut-specific IgE
measurements (Shirley Bowles); genotyping for diagnosis of
hereditary haemochromatosis (Maria Flenley), and
adherence to phosphate replacement guidelines (Laura
Green). Topics of regional audits presented at regional
meetings included: outsourcing and send-away tests
(N Ireland); gestational diabetes (Wales); polycystic ovary
syndrome (Midlands), and sweat testing (Southern).
In 2015 NCBAG also produced a standardised template for
the reporting of audits and a guide on ‘How to conduct a
national audit – hints and tips’. Details of the audits,
templates and guide are available on the Audit page on
the ACB website.

Director: Dr Christopher Chaloner
Deputy Director: Mrs Alexandra Yates

ACB Scientific Committee (left to right): Professor Dimitris Grammatopoulos, Mrs Alexandra Yates, Dr Owen Driskell, Dr Christopher
Chaloner, Mr William Finch, Mrs Annette Thomas, Dr David Gaze
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Publications have continued to be produced during 2015 and
provide an invaluable resource to the membership and a
wider readership. Also, the financial returns from these
publications serve to support the aims of the ACB. None of
this would happen without the support of and contribution
from members of each of the committees that comprise the
publication arm of the Association. The ACB website
continues to be developed and expanded with excellent
support from the ACB office staff to keep the information
timely. Details of the new membership benefit package,
‘ACB Extras’ are a recent addition to the website.
Nevertheless, there is still more we can do to develop and
utilise information technology to meet our aims, and this
remains a key objective for the ACB.
Following on from the introduction of a Twitter page last
year, our current President continues to use this feed,
and it continues to be well received by the membership.
Further engagement of this type would seem appropriate to
promote interaction and communication with the wider
membership.
I am indebted to the following colleagues who lead the
various teams responsible for our publications: Jonathan
Berg (Editor, ACB News), Danielle Freedman (Chairman,
Lab Tests OnLine UK), Beverley Harris (Chairman, Venture
Publications), Edmund Lamb (Editor-in-Chief, Annals of
Clinical Biochemistry), and the staff of the ACB office.
ACB News
The monthly magazine continues to try to inform readers on
all aspects of clinical laboratory science. ACB News has seen
some challenging times this year with a reduction in
editorial contributions, though we have continued to see
some excellent contributions from the Federation, including
an informative series of articles on pensions. We are also
seeing commercial support increasing through advertising
and we need to work to ensure that this confidence is
matched by high quality editorial material.

(2.08 in 2013) and it is ranked 12 out of 30 in its category.
However, if the immediacy and total citations indices are
considered, the ranking is much higher (5th and 8th
respectively). The acceptance rate for original articles is
currently about 25%.
Minor changes are continually made to improve our
processes. In 2015, the average time to first editorial
decision was reduced to 28 days (from 36). Production of
the Annals remains efficient with issues being released
on-line ahead of cover month and hard copies being
delivered to members early in the cover month. ‘On-Line
First’ and ‘ANNALS EXPRESS’ provide authors with a rapid
publication platform for their research. Average time from
acceptance to publication is 33 days. We are currently
discussing open access approaches with the publisher.
The majority of articles received are original articles or
short reports but we also publish editorials, case reports,
letters and review articles. In 2015, four review articles,
commissioned through the Association’s Clinical Sciences
Reviews Committee were published, covering topics
including acute kidney injury, measurement uncertainty and
mass spectrometry. Several review articles are now ready
for publication and will appear in early 2016.
Initiatives being considered for 2016 include the use of
plagiarism software (iThenticate) to check the originality
of all articles at submission, a possible cover re-design
(it has remained essentially unchanged for 13 years) and
re-badging of ‘original articles’ as ‘research articles’
(all articles in Annals being ‘original’).
In February 2015 the Editor-in-Chief was visited by
Dr Katsuyaki Nakajima, Japan Editor of the Journal.
Several ways of improving the visibility of the Journal in
Japan were discussed.

The magazine is still mailed out in printed form but we have
been working to encourage use of the electronic version.
This has included an emphasis on multimedia, including
links from the electronic version to website material and
also YouTube videos to support some features. Our intention
is to increase this in 2016. We are also aiming to increase
the coverage of current issues that clinical science faces.
Thanks are again due to our longstanding Editor, whom we
congratulate on his appointment to an honorary chair as
Professor of Clinical Biochemistry at the University of
Birmingham during the year.
Annals of Clinical Biochemistry
Annals is an international scientific journal of laboratory
medicine. Its metrics are healthy and compare favourably
with others in the field. The impact factor for 2.34 in 2014

The Editor-in-Chief and Dr Nakajima discuss improving the
visibility of the Annals in Japan

Publications Committee
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In November 2015 we departed from our usual format to
include proceedings from a meeting to mark the retirement
of Professor Stephen Halloran, former Editor-in-Chief of the
Journal.
Lab Tests Online UK (LTO-UK)
The importance and prominence of LTO-UK continues to
grow as patients increasingly want access to their results
and to engage with their own healthcare. Following on from
the 10th anniversary celebrations in 2014, the marketing
materials were updated. The American Association of
Clinical Chemistry’s (AACC) website has been given a new
mast head and app logo. Further development work is
planned by the AACC to redesign the whole website; this is
due to start in late 2016 and will enhance the quality of the
content on the site and enable more user-friendly
navigation.
This year has seen a significant increase in website traffic
with an average 183,366 visitors per month and a total of
2.2 million for the year. Changes to the Google algorithm in
June increased the traffic from this search engine and had a
significant impact on the number of new visitors to the
website. The app continues to be popular and has seen
further downloads with a grand total of 12,937 downloads
thus far. The number of visitors who visit the website via
links from GP systems, such as TPP, HealthFabric and iSOFT,
is also increasing. Further increases in this footfall are
envisaged as more patients are given online access to their
records and patient education and empowerment becomes
embedded in clinical practice.
LTO-UK is to remain non-commercial and is funded by the
Association, the Institute of Biomedical Science and the
Royal College of Pathogists: we are grateful to them for
their continuing support. Feedback from users suggests
that the non-commercial nature of the website is of great
importance to them and we intend to give this aspect
greater emphasis on the home page.
The LTO-UK board actively engage with the public and
healthcare professionals to promote the website and have
attended a number of events over the past year, including:
An ACB national meeting ‘Direct Patient Access to
Laboratory Testing and Results’; the College’s National
Pathology Week events at the Houses of Parliament; a public
engagement event hosted by Hon Peter Lilley MP at Hitchin
Priory, Bedford; ViaPath’s ‘Launch of LTO-UK link on ICE’,
Leicester University’s Health and Sciences Career Fair,
and Pulse Live 2015 in London. Feedback from these events
has been overwhelmingly positive and they have provided
increased networking opportunities and invaluable
promotion of LTO-UK. In addition, LTO-UK was the subject
of a BMJ article in February while later in the year The
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)
published NICE Guideline NG 23, which has a direct link to
LTO-UK.
The LTO-UK board monitor the progress of the website and
the following three year (2014–2017) objectives have been
met this year:
•

to generate an increase in annual traffic by at least 10%
year on year and to promote the use of the app to
patients and health professionals

•

to ensure that GPs have direct links from their surgery
to LTO-UK website. Currently the following GP systems
have direct links: TPP, HealthFabric and iSOFT

•

to increase links with other public facing websites,
e.g. national health-related charities and others

•

to work with GP and patient record system suppliers to
further integrate LTO-UK into these

•

to engage with patient-facing applications.

Venture Publications
This year has seen the
publication of the twenty-second
Venture Publications book,
entitled Cardiovascular Disease
and Laboratory Medicine, by
Martin Crook, John Chambers
and Phil Chowienczyk. This is a
concise synopsis of the use of the
laboratory in the management of
patients with cardiovascular
disease, with topics including the
assessment of cardiovascular risk
factors, the management of
dyslipidaemias and the use of biochemical markers such as
high sensitivity cardiac troponin and natriuretic peptides.
It was distributed free to ACB members this summer and is
also available for sale.
Three further titles are in the pipeline, including a new
edition of one of the first VP books, Intensive Care and
Clinical Biochemistry (1994), expected early in 2016. It is
planned that new editions of Neonatology and Laboratory
Medicine and Liver Disease and Laboratory Medicine will
follow in the next eighteen months.
Many thanks are due as always to our team of editors and
other committee members who, despite the difficulties
encountered in bringing books to publication, continue to
show admirable enthusiasm and commitment to the various
projects we have in progress. We also thank Sue Ojakowa at
PRC Associates for so ably obtaining sponsorship and
advertising revenue from various companies to help with
production costs, and the team in the ACB office who
provide much needed administrative support to the work of
the committee.
With great regret, the committee and ACB Executive have
decided that VP should not actively commission any further
books, although the Association will consider any proposals
received from members who are considering writing a book.
An article published in the November edition of ACB News
explained the reasons for this decision; the expectation is
that any future titles will be managed via the Publications
Committee.

Director of Publications & Communications:
Dr Paul Newland
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Public engagement events
Many trainees across the country organised and participated
in National Pathology Week events in November, details of
some of which have been published in ACB News. These
events were aimed at promoting the role of laboratory
medicine in the NHS.
Trainees also volunteered at the 12th Annual Schools’
Science Conference held at the University of Westminster
in April, the theme being ‘Science for Survival’.
Two interactive stands were organised by London trainees:
one focused on diabetes mellitus with the other
demonstrating urine and faecal screening tests.
STP trainees
Members of the Committee attended the national Scientist
Training Programme (STP) induction event at Aston Villa
football ground, hoping to grab the attention of the new
cohort of trainees early and encourage them to join the
ACB. The STP elective presentation afternoon was organised
by the Committee in December at the ACB offices in Tooley
Street; the event was free for all ACB members to attend.
Again, the meeting was a success, providing a platform for
STP trainees to discover the scope of elective placements
available.
Communications
The Trainees Section of the website is continually updated
and more guidance documents have been uploaded during
the year. These include examples of elective projects
former STP trainees have completed and a document
detailing how to secure accommodation in Manchester
during the MSc. A similar document for trainees attending
the MSc in Birmingham will be available soon. The National
Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline
summaries section continues to be expanded. The most
recently published NICE guidance that has been summarised
by trainees is now available on the ACB website.
Employment opportunities
To our knowledge, all newly qualified STP trainees are
securing band 7 posts, either permanent or fixed term.
Paradoxically, there currently appears to be an issue with
under-recruitment to these posts and into the profession in
general. Trainees are also being recruited into newly
appointed Higher Specialist Scientist Training (HSST) posts
across the country.

STP Trainees from all specialties attended the STP induction event

Changes to FRCPath examinations
Continued uncertainty surrounds changes to the future
structure of the FRCPath exams. Discussions from meetings
at the College and the ACB Education Committee have been
fed back to the committee. Changes are underway to
replace both the essays and the short answer questions
(SAQ) paper with a multiple choice paper for Part 1. This
will need to be ratified by the GMC, and the new format
examination will then need to be piloted. It is anticipated
that this may take two years, and so the current examination
format will continue until at least the Autumn 2017 session.
Much of this uncertainty is linked to the Shape of Training
(SoT) review for medics and the implications that this might
have for chemical pathology training. It is therefore likely
that changes to the Part 2 will also materialise in time to
reflect that training. Changes to Part 2 may include specific
clinical skills-based modules for medical trainees. However,
plans cannot be confirmed until there is more clarity
regarding SoT and the future structure for medical training.
Thank you
The Trainees’ Committee continues to work hard to keep
trainees informed of all issues. We have had a number of
changes on the committee this year and we would like to
thank all the members who have stepped down for their
help and dedication during their tenure.

Chair: Miss Emma Ashley
Vice Chair: Miss Katie Hadfield

Trainees’ Committee
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The Clinical Practice Section (CPS) brings together
medically qualified pathologists and clinical scientists
within the ACB who have specific interests in aspects of
biochemistry/laboratory medicine with direct application
to routine clinical practice. Its work covers a range of
educational activities, guideline oversight in
biochemistry/laboratory medicine and contributions to
national guideline bodies. As such, close liaison takes place
with other ACB committees, in particular the Scientific
Affairs and Education Committees. The CPS committee
meets quarterly by teleconference.
With the aim of promoting and standardising best practice
the CPS has established a number of working groups.
1. Adjusted calcium
National audit shows variability in the reporting of
adjusted calcium. The working group has produced
interim guidance and is now undertaking a systematic
literature review to inform evidence based best practice
guidance.
2. Reflective/reflex testing
It is common practice for laboratories to add tests
additional to those requested if the initial results are
abnormal in order to expedite diagnosis. There is
variability in how and when laboratories do this and in
some cases reflex/reflective testing may raise ethical
issues. This working group will develop guidance on
when and how such testing might be undertaken.
3. Treatment of magnesium deficiency
Magnesium deficiency is a common problem in hospital
patients. Treatment protocols for magnesium
replacement vary greatly in terms of the rate and dose
of magnesium administered. This working group will
undertake a systematic literature review and develop
evidence based best practice guidance.
4. Troponin testing
National audit has shown variability in troponin testing,
particularly with regards to diagnostic cut-offs used
and sampling times. The working group will produce a
synthesis of existing guidance to support standardisation
of protocols nationally.
Audit of critical/urgent test provision
In 2014 following the publication of the ‘NHS Services,
seven day working’ document by NHS England the CPS
produced guidance on what tests should be available to

support the management of ‘critical’ and ‘urgent’ patients
i.e. results available within one and 12 hours respectively.
In 2015 a national audit was undertaken to assess the ability
of laboratories to meet these targets. As expected, many
laboratories are at present unable to meet some of the
targets, in particular for those tests which must be
referred to another laboratory for analysis.
Support scheme for newly appointed consultants in
chemical pathology
Taking up a consultant post for the first time is an exciting
experience but one which can bring its own challenges and
frustrations. While trainees work in a relatively protected
environment, surrounded by supportive peers and senior
colleagues, consultants may be thrown straight into the
rough and tumble of hospital life and exposure to a range of
problems and challenges not encountered as a trainee.
As chemical pathology is a small specialty, many chemical
pathologists work as single handed practitioners or as a
member of a small team of consultants. However supportive
new local colleagues might be, the transition from trainee
to consultant can be a difficult one.
Many newly appointed consultants value the availability of a
more senior and established colleague outside their own
direct working environment who can act as a sounding
board, offer advice and provide mentorship and peer
support during the first two years. In recognition of this the
CPS has established a ‘buddy scheme’ whereby newly
appointed consultants are paired with a more experienced
and established colleague to provide informal mentoring
and support. This will complement local support systems
available to the new consultant. The CPS offers the support
scheme to new consultants and to date the take-up has
been high. The scheme will be evaluated in due course from
the perspective of both the supported and supporting
consultant.
Pharmaceutical industry liaison group
The CPS is exploring the establishment of a pharmaceutical
industry liaison group. The aim would be to facilitate
interaction and communication between the ACB and the
pharmaceutical industry, promote educational activities
and research.

Director of Clinical Practice:
Dr Maurice O’Kane

Clinical Practice Section
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2015 has been a difficult year for us all. Financial cuts and
organisational restructuring have resulted in varying degrees
of disruption. Members have seen demands on their time
stretched to new limits. The restructuring of many NHS
laboratories and the setting up of Public Health England’s
National Infection Service (NIS) have led to periods of
uncertainty and upheaval for many. The ongoing
consultation regarding the Food, Water and Environment
Laboratories continues to leave many with an uncertain
future, but despite all of this we have however as a group
still managed to be active in support of our profession.
The Scientist Training Programme (STP) is now fairly well
established, with a considerable number of laboratories
hosting trainees. Trainees who have exited the programme
and who now have registration still face the task of finding
employment in a challenging financial climate.
After several successful years as lead STP Objective
Structured Final Assessment (OSFA) station writer, Dr Rob
Shorten has handed over to Dr Derren Ready, who will,
I am sure, approach this important task with the same level
of enthusiasm and professionalism as his predecessor.
A number of members, including Dr Kate Templeton, have
been involved in the STP equivalence process and have been
undertaking assessments and training. Many of the members
seeking to become STP assessors are already assessors for
the Association of Clinical Scientists (ACS). We expect to see
an increase in the numbers of applicants to the equivalence
process for both STP and the Practitioner Training
Programme (PTP) so anyone who is interested in getting
involved please contact us and the National School of
Healthcare Science (NSHCS) for details.
The Higher Specialist Scientific register is now accepting
applications onto its early implementers programme and
again members of the professional group have given their
time and professional advice to undertake training and
some of the first assessments. This will be an ongoing piece
of work. The portfolio of evidence that needs to be
submitted will be in some ways similar to the ACS Route 2
portfolio. I can envisage that we as a professional group will
be increasingly asked for advice and guidance regarding this
route. I would urge any members who are interested to get
involved in training and assessing. The more we are

involved, the more professional influence we can exert into
this new process.
We have continued to represent microbiology within the
ACB at various internal committees including the Trainees’
Committee, Federation of Clinical Scientists, Scientific
Committee and Education Committee, and through
commenting on NICE guidance and laboratory standards.
We have also represented the ACB at the Royal College of
Pathologists on the Specialist Advisory Committee, the
College Advisory Training Team (CATT) and the Clinical
Sciences Committee.
I would like to say a special thank you to Dr Sue Murray who
has represented us on a number of college committees over
the years and contributed greatly to the new microbiology
curriculum for clinical scientists. Sue will be retiring this
coming year and will be sorely missed for her wise words
and continual support.
The annual scientific meeting of the ACB Microbiology
Professional Committee was held on 6th October 2015 at
the Queen Elizabeth Hospital Birmingham Postgraduate
Conference Centre. The theme of the meeting was
‘Antimicrobial drug resistance: current challenges and
future threats’. It was kindly sponsored by bioMérieux and
Pro-Lab and supported by the ACB office. Nine speakers
from around the UK spoke on topics including drug
resistance in salmonella, gonorrhoea and malaria infections,
carbapenemase-producing bacteria, antimicrobial resistance
in bacteria from animals and testing for antiviral drug
resistance. The meeting was very successful and well
attended by approximately 40 delegates including ACB
members and non-members from NHS, PHE and industry.
Many thanks to Naomi Gadsby and all who worked tirelessly
to make this event a success.
We continue to be committed to representing your views as
clinical scientists in microbiology and virology. If you want
to get involved in any way, no matter how small, please do
get in touch and join.

Chair: Dr Kirsty Dodgson
Secretary: Dr Moira Kaye

Microbiology Professional Committee
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Training and trainees
Four Grade B clinical scientists in immunology were
successful in their first attempts at the Royal College’s
Part 2 exams, and three have now completed all stages and
will be admitted to fellowship.

trusts that have no history of training clinical immunologists
have been allowed to take trainees. We remain concerned
about the calibre and the ability of these centres to provide
high quality training if they have no experience and no one
from the IPC associated with that centre.

There are no Practitioner Training Programme (PTP) trainees
in immunology at present. The Scientist Training Programme
(STP) trainees who started in 2011 (5) and 2012 (8) have
completed their training, with 12 currently in training, four
of whom started in 2015.

It is of particular concern that when this issue was raised in
the Royal College of Pathologist’s Clinical Science
Committee, some colleagues said that they were finding it
hard to fulfil immunology rotations. One suggested solution
was to reduce the curriculum. This would be almost
impossible to do without altering the quality and standards
of immunology training. The IPC agrees that immunologists
and colleagues in other disciplines must all be vigilant to
prevent immunology from being diluted too much into blood
sciences, whilst at the same time working closely with our
colleagues and being aware of not developing a ‘silo
mentality’.

There are currently two Higher Specialist Scientific Training
(HSST) posts nationally and we hope to apply for at least 2–3
more. Four people were successfully assessed by the
Association of Clinical Scientists’ procedures.
The STPs in immunology all passed the OSFAs, gained the
MSc and have been registered as clinical scientists.
The questions for the five 2016 OFSA stations have been
written and approved by the National School of Healthcare
Science. It remains a challenge to recruit enough assessors
for the exam, and we are delighted that there have been
some new volunteers.
Manchester MSc Course
The IPC is very happy with the quality of the organisation
and the content of the immunology course for STPs.
Many clinical immunologists have worked and continue to
work with the University to teach and help with the course.
The University has responded very positively to their ideas
and suggestions and the students seem happy with the
course.
Accreditation of STP training centres
The IPC consider this matter to be a major concern to the
immunology community. Immunology departments and

Workforce
One new consultant post at AfC band 8C was established
during the year; two new posts at AfC band 8B (but called
consultant posts) were advertised; the IPC officially voiced
their concerns to the trusts concerned.
Raising the immunology profile and integrating
immunologists more into the ACB
The IPC is trying to ensure that there is an immunology
representative on all ACB regional committees, and is
encouraging immunologists to submit manuscripts to
Annals of Clinical Biochemistry.
New Chair of the IPC
Professor Berne Ferry will stand down as the Chair of the
IPC effective from April 2016; she will be succeeded by
Dr Elizabeth Furrie.

Chair: Professor Berne Ferry

Immunology Professional Committee
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2015 proved to be another busy and challenging year for
meetings. The ACB National Meeting, Focus, was held at the
impressive Wales Millennium Centre in Cardiff in June.
The ACB was fortunate to have secured tenancy for one of
only three weeks per annum the centre can be used for
conferences. The local organising committee largely
comprised members from the ACB Wales region and was
chaired by Dr David Cassidy. The scientific programme,
entitled ‘Breaking Boundaries in Laboratory Medicine’ was
organised by a committee comprising members of the ACB
South West and Wessex region, chaired by Dr Andrew Day.
Highlights included Professor Stephen Halloran’s ACB
Foundation Award lecture on bowel cancer screening,
Dr Jason Gill’s Professors’ Prize lecture on factors affecting
diabetes risk, and an excellent session on point-of-care
testing.
As I reported in 2014, getting delegates to attend meetings
continues to be a challenge, and while we had reasonable
delegate numbers in Cardiff, the geographical location
proved difficult for attracting day delegates. The National
Meetings Committee, along with ACB Council and Executive,
surveyed the membership in the months following the
meeting to gauge their thoughts on what needed to change
to attract more delegates. The findings were published in
ACB News. Key requests included: more central locations for
the meeting, more clinically relevant topics and reduced
costs. These findings have been taken on board in the
organisation of the 2016 meeting, which will be held at the
University of Warwick. The 2016 meeting will, we believe,
be the first paperless UK pathology meeting, with a mobile
app being launched to inform the delegates. Other key
features will include the geographically central location and
flexibility for registrations, including departmental shared
registrations and discounts for poster presenters. ACB Focus
meetings will continue to be promoted through their own
Twitter feed and Facebook page.
Away from Focus, the FiLM (Frontiers in Laboratory
Medicine) meeting continues as one of the most thoughtprovoking laboratory management and innovation meetings
in the UK. The 2015 meeting in Birmingham, and was again
organised in conjunction with Robert Michel, Editor-in-Chief
of the Dark Report, with the UK organising committee led
by Dr David Clark for the first time. Dr Clark is a
histopathologist and has gone to great lengths to engage
with all the laboratory specialties to make the FiLM meeting

a truly cross disciplinary event. Highlights from the 2015
meeting included a panel discussion on implementing the
Pathology Quality Assurance Review, where we heard from
NHS leads and the laboratory professional bodies’ presidents
on how the recommendations are going to affect our
laboratory services. Congratulations must also go to the
team who created and then developed the FiLM meeting on
winning the 2015 President’s Shield, which was presented to
Drs Neil Anderson and Kathryn Brownbill at Focus in Cardiff.
Once again the ACB regions hosted a large number of
regional meetings covering a range of topics as diverse as
liver biochemistry, neurology, steroids and bariatric surgery.
The ACB Scotland region held another of its successful two
day meetings at Norton House in Edinburgh, which attracted
many delegates from out with the region and is a format
that other regions are considering.
Thanks are again due to Kathryn Brownbill, as secretary of
the committee, the ACB office staff for their ongoing
support and the staff of Meeting Makers, who take on the
professional organisation of our main meetings and make it
possible that we can host such events for our members.
We are also indebted to the ACB corporate members for
their continued involvement in meetings throughout the
year: without their financial and influential support we
would not be able to run these events.

Chair: Dr Ian Godber
Secretary: Dr Kathryn Brownbill
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The FCS has again been very active on the national NHS
industrial relations scene. Implementation of new pensions
schemes and new scheme governance arrangements has
taken place across the public sector and has been a major
focus of activity for us. The FCS has published a series of
technical briefings to help members understand the new
schemes and the decisions they have had to make.

reduce the cap for redundancy payments for all public
sector workers to £95k. This will likely come into effect by
1st April 2016, assuming the Enterprise Bill is passed. For
some of our senior members this could mean they get less
than a year’s salary if their posts are made redundant.
It remains to be seen if this change to the redundancy terms
will be replicated in the other countries.

The new NHS 2015 Pension Scheme has now commenced
with those with less than ten years before retirement on the
conversion date being protected as they will remain in their
previous scheme. The conversion date for those with
between 10 and 13 years to retirement is being tapered.
The ‘Choice 2’ exercise has been carried out for England
and allowed those who remained in the 1995 pension
scheme under the original choice exercise to change to the
2008 scheme if they felt this would be beneficial given new,
later pension ages but the uptake has been very low. The
exercise is due to be run in Scotland and Northern Ireland
but no timescales as yet have been agreed.

As well as responding to the consultation on redundancy
pay earlier in the year, we have also provided input to
consultations from a variety of sources including the Health
and Care Professions Council (HCPC) on issues that affect
our members.

The FCS represents scheme members in the new governance
arrangements of the ‘NHS Pension Board’ and ‘Scheme
Advisory Board’, both of which became new statutory
bodies in April 2015.
The pay settlement for 2015–2016 saw a reduction in pay for
some of the more senior members of the profession in
England. Whilst those on the lower Agenda for Change pay
scales received an increase in pay, it was not so for those in
the higher pay bands. In England, the 2014–2015 pay
settlement gave a 1% increase only to those at the top of
their band and this was both non-consolidated (i.e.
temporary) and non-pensionable. In 2015–2016 there has
again been a variable settlement. Those at the top of bands
6–8b have had the 1% pay increase consolidated but those in
band 8c-9 will lose the 2014–2015 non-consolidated 1%
increase and therefore have had a 1% reduction in gross pay.
Incremental points have been frozen for this year for those
on point 2 of pay band 8a and above. Scotland implemented
the NHS pay review body recommendations in both 2014 and
2015 with a 1% increase for all those earning over £21,000
and a flat £300 increase for those earning less than that.
In Wales, there was a compromise agreement with a one-off
non-consolidated payment for all for 2014 and a 1% increase
for all in 2015. Northern Ireland is still to agree any
increases for its staff for this year. This situation means that
we have different pay scales in all four countries and it is
hard to see how parity could be restored.
In 2014, in England only, a salary cap was introduced making
the maximum redundancy compensation £160k. During 2014
and 2015 there was consultation, to which the FCS
submitted a response as part of the NHS Trade Unions
collective response, followed by changes to redundancy pay
for all public sector workers. Despite the large number of
objections raised, the government is pressing ahead to

The FCS has continued with its wider remit and been
working with other unions and outside bodies over the
course of the year. The Consultant Clinical Scientist project
that was run with NHS employers has now concluded and
we await the final outcome.
Throughout this year, the FCS has continued to work with
other trade unions and with the NHS Staff Council to make
our members’ voices heard and to respond to proposals put
forward by the Department of Health and NHS employers
that will affect our members. This work has been carried
out through regular meetings at, amongst others, the NHS
Staff Council and trade unions leads meetings.
The FCS has continued to support members throughout the
year with a variety of issues including advice on Agenda for
Change (AfC) terms and conditions, bullying and harassment
and Transfer of Undertakings (TUPE). We have undertaken
work to develop a system whereby work done by all FCS
representatives can be captured to show the amount of
work being carried out. Public Health England (PHE) has
undergone some major changes this year and we have
supported our members in PHE throughout the year.
The FCS has run a number of training days for our
representatives throughout the year; however, as the
Association as a whole is increasingly finding with other
meetings, people are finding it increasingly hard to justify
time away from the laboratory to attend such events.
We have been ably supported by our Chartered Society of
Physiotherapy (CSP) officer, Jess Belmonte, and we thank
her for her all her work and invaluable advice. Our work
could not be accomplished without the considerable support
of staff in the ACB office and on behalf of all members,
we thank them for that.

Director of Regulatory Affairs/FCS Chair:
Dr Andrew Taylor
Deputy Director of Regulatory Affairs/FCS Secretary:
Dr Emma Lewis
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The Corporate Members’ Committee will continue to bring
the industry perspective to the subjects under discussion by
the ACB by highlighting issues of concern to both parties.
ACB and Corporate Members working together
• A possible reinvigoration of the Corporate Members
Committee has been discussed, along with the possibility
of involving corporate members in other committees,
such as the National Meetings and/or Publications
Committees.
•

The possibility of the ACB Executive and Corporate
Members working together to release a document
with a considered, shared view on specific topics has
been discussed.

•

The possible overlap of a prospective Corporate
Members Committee project with some of the current,
newer activities of BIVDA (British In Vitro Diagnostics
Association) has been discussed, to avoid duplication.
The conclusion was that the ACB has a different role to
that of BIVDA and that the activities could be
complementary.

Conferences
It has become essential for the budgetary planning of
ACB Focus to recognise the trend that the larger corporate
member companies are declining to attend as exhibitors.
In order to maintain the income stream that underpins
ACB Focus, it is important to develop more innovative
sponsorship ideas.
Focus 2015 Millennium Centre, Cardiff
There were fewer exhibitors and it was disappointing
that none of the major companies had exhibition stands.
The larger companies now tend to sponsor individual
elements of the meeting and send staff as delegates
rather than having an exhibition stand.
Focus 2016 Warwick University
This meeting will be contained to the university campus
with all accommodation and social events being held on
site. The exhibition will be of similar size to that at the

York meeting in 2013. It is hoped that the more affordable,
smaller exhibition spaces will continue to attract a wider
variety of companies
Management and Leadership Training Course: July 2015
Representatives from ACB Corporate Members including
Roche, Beckman Coulter and Abbott again contributed their
expertise to the ACB Management and Leadership Course.
Topics to which they contributed included tendering and
managed service contracts; the workshop highlighted the
key considerations for a high quality and cost efficient
tender delivery that meets the required targets.
Nominations for Committee
Mark Weaver will continue as Chair until the AGM and
nominations for the post are being sought. The Committee
would welcome nominations for new members.

Chair: Mr Mark Weaver

Corporate Members’ Committee
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North West Region
Our first scientific meeting of the year,
the Ian Ward members’ papers
meeting, was held in March at
Stockport: nine high quality
presentations were received. First
prize was awarded to Kia Langford
Smith for her talk ‘Development of an
ELISA for the measurement of CSF
ferritin as a biomarker of intracranial
haemorrhage’. This meeting was
followed by our AGM with a lively
debate around future charging for our
scientific meetings. However, we have
currently managed to hold our
meetings free of charge to ACB
members owing to the generosity of
Roche, IDS, Eli-Lily & Co. and Sebia
who have supported our scientific
meetings throughout the year.
Our highly successful summer meeting
on metabolic medicine was held at the
concert room in Liverpool Cathedral in
July. An excellent programme was put
together and covered topics such as
familial hypocalciuric hypercalcaemia
(Fadil Hannan); practical use of bone
markers (Eileen Marks) (both these
speakers being from the Royal
Liverpool and Broad Green University
Hospitals Trust, RLBUHT); paediatric
cases of metabolic bone disease
(Renuka Ramakrishnan and Poonam
Dharmaraj, both from Alder Hey
Children’s Hospital); the newly
released ACB calcium position paper
(Shirley Bowles from Countess of
Chester Hospital), and an audit of
current calcium practice (Sarah Davies,
also from the RLBUHT).
The last of our three meetings took
place in November at Chorley. This
was our audit meeting at which
Michael Maresh, member of the
National Institute for Health and
Care Excellence (NICE) guideline
development group on diabetes in
pregnancy, spoke on the reason behind
the decision limits for glucose
tolerance tests and gestational
diabetes. Nine excellent audits were
subsequently presented from across
the region including ‘HbA1C in the
diagnosis of type 2 diabetes mellitus:
a national audit of practice’, originally

poster entitled ‘Development of a
dried blood spot method for amino acid
analysis in MSUD using the Waters
Acquity UPLC with UV detection’.
The region was delighted to
recommend awards this year to Prof
Paul Klapper (Emeritus Member) who
successfully merged the Association of
Clinical Microbiologists with the ACB in
2010 and Dr Aram Rudenski (Fellow,
awarded posthumously) for his services
to clinical biochemistry over the years.

Shirley Bowles won both the 2015 ACB
Clinical Cases Poster Prize and the 2015
ACB Audit Poster Prize

presented at Focus as part of the
national audit programme by Sarah
Robinson, Leighton Hospital, Crewe.
It is also of note that three out of four
of the audits presented orally at the
audit symposium at Focus this year
were from the NW region and were
chosen from over 40 submitted
abstracts. Congratulations to Shirley
Bowles, Maria Flenley and Laura Green,
and particularly to Shirley, who won
both the Focus 2015 audit poster prize
and the clinical cases poster prize.
We are pleased to say that we are
continuing to support trainee
recruitment, with three biochemistry
Scientist Training Programme (STP)
posts starting this year in the region.
In addition, our other (2nd and 3rd
year) biochemistry STPs (5), and
microbiology STPs (7) are all
progressing well. Specialist registrars in
the region are also making progress
with all five showing success in various
parts of their FRCPath examinations.
Sadly, however, there are currently no
immunology STPs within the region.
After six very successful years, Kath
Hayden stepped down from her role as
Regional Tutor to hand over to Anna
Milan. We made one travel award this
year, to Alistair Horman, to attend the
Society of the Study of Inborn Errors of
Metabolism meeting in Lyon with his

Northern Ireland Region
The ACBNI/ACBI Spring Scientific
Meeting was held in April in the
Wellington Park Hotel, Belfast.
Generous sponsorship was received
from Roche and Oxford Biosystems.
The morning’s presentations covered a
wide range of topics including
demonstrating personal proficiency
(Prof Eric Kilpatrick); direct patient
access to results (Prof Maurice
O’Kane); the development of a
specialist referral service (Dr Jonathan
Berg), and the historical and highly
publicised Northern Ireland
‘Hyponatraemia Enquiry’ (Dr Kathryn
Ryan and Ms Joyce O’Kane [Specialist
Solicitor in Healthcare and Clinical
Negligence]).
In the afternoon a local consultant
renal physician, Dr Aisling Courtney,
focused on the success of the live
donor project; Dr Ophelia Blake,
our ACBI colleague from Limerick,
updated us on the National Cancer
Control Programme PSA Harmonisation
Project in the Republic of Ireland,
Consultant Virologist Dr Conall
McCaughey discussed the recent Ebola
epidemic; Prof Ian Young spoke on
vitamin D testing, and Dr Kirsty Spence
discussed a recent successful demand
management project. The day was
rounded off with presentations to two
retiring colleagues, Mr Peter Auld and
Dr Mike Smye, who were recognised for
their contributions to laboratory
services. We thank Dr Jenny Hamilton
for organising this meeting.
The Annual RCPath Northern Ireland
Regional Seminar was held in June in

ACB Regions Report
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Belfast City Hospital. Speakers
represented a range of pathology
disciplines and this year included not
only the Royal College of Pathologists’
President, Dr Suzy Lishman, but also
the Chief Executive, Mr Daniel Ross.
This well supported meeting provided
an opportunity for CPD and general
networking for fellows and trainees
from the region.
The Regional Audit Group met in
February and October. Regional
standards have been agreed following
discussion of myeloma/MGUS
(monoclonal gammopathy of unknown
significance) audit findings. In
addition, a regional CSF pack for
xanthochromia analysis has been
developed and a regional approach to
the investigation of renal stones has
been agreed. The national troponin
testing audit, conducted by consultant
clinical scientists Dr Gareth McKeeman
and Mr Peter Auld, was completed and
published along with national
recommendations in the Annals of
Clinical Biochemistry (Ann Clin
Biochem 2015;52: 527–42).
The membership of our regional
committee has not changed since last
year’s Annual Report. The terms of the
current Meetings Secretary and
Secretary/Treasurer are due to end in
April 2016, so expressions of interest
were sought at the Regional Annual
General Meeting.
Our congratulations are due to two
members who received special
recognition this year. Dr Tom Trinick
was awarded the OBE in recognition for

Professor Maurice O’Kane, Mrs Margaret McDonnell (ACBNI Chair), Professor Eric Kilpatrick
and Professor Jonathan Berg

services to medicine in the New Year’s
Honours 2015. He is a member of the
reserve services and the presentation
was delayed by his being selected for
Operation Gritrock, the Ministry of
Defence response to the Ebola
epidemic in Sierra Leone. He received
the award from HRH Prince Charles in
June.
Dr Tanya Curran is a clinical scientist
working in the Regional Virology
Laboratory of the Belfast HSCT (Health
and Social Care Trust). When Public
Health England made a public call
looking for people with skills in
microbiology and molecular
diagnostics, Tanya volunteered for
deployment to Sierra Leone and spent
five weeks at the PHE laboratory in the

Dr Tom Trinick receiving his OBE from HRH Prince Charles

Kerrytown Ebola Treatment Centre,
working as part of a small team
providing rapid laboratory diagnostics,
a key element in stopping the spread of
Ebola. Tanya was awarded the Ebola
Medal for Service in West Africa.
A number of vacant positions were
advertised by Belfast HSCT), with no
applicants. The funding from these
posts were used to fund two training
posts.
Republic of Ireland Region
The regional scientific meeting was
held in January at St Vincent’s
University Hospital, Dublin. There was
a broad programme, comprising
clinical, scientific, quality and
managerial aspects of clinical
biochemistry and laboratory medicine.

Dr Tanya Curran wearing her Ebola Medal
for Service in West Africa
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Our opening speaker was Dr Anne
Malloy (Trinity College, Dublin), one of
the contributing authors to the British
Society for Haematology’s guidelines
(2014) on the diagnosis and treatment
of cobalamin and folate disorders.
With haematinic testing (and
over-testing) familiar to many clinical
biochemists, delegates were interested
to hear some of the guideline’s
recommendations, including that for
holotranscobalamin (‘active B12’)
testing. Dr Roy Peake, an ACB member
based at Boston Children’s Hospital,
provided his expert experience in
clinical applications of LC-MS/MS,
including its development and
regulation in the USA; this was
followed by a clinical case study on
thyrotoxicosis factitia presented by
Dr Graham Lee, Mater Misericordiae
University Hospital. The topics of the
afternoon presentations and discussions
included ean processing, to meet
clinical demand (Ms Alison Bransfield,
Bon Secours Hospital Cork), laboratory
liaison with the Health Products
Regulatory Authority (formerly Irish
Medicines Board) (Dr Judith Martin) and
finally point of care testing (PoCT),
with a focus on accreditation
(Ms Bernie Jackson, Point-of-Care
Testing (PoCT) Manager, Naas).
Members also attended the joint
ACB(NI)/ACBI meeting held in April in
Belfast where Dr Ophelia Blake (Mid
Western Regional Hospital, Limerick)
presented on the National Cancer
Control Programme PSA harmonisation
project. This group, which is chaired by
another of the region’s members
(Dr Vivion Crowley, St James University
Hospital Dublin), seeks to address the
lack of harmonisation of PSA
measurements in Ireland.
Members were saddened by the loss
of Dr Margaret Sinnott in May.
A commemorative conference was held
at the Mater Misericordiae University
Hospital in June, when the topics
included many of Margaret’s interests.
Session titles included ‘Oncology’
(thyroid and prostate cancer), ‘Focus
on Teaching’ (porphyria, research
methods and statistics, and acute
kidney injury [AKI]), and ‘Metabolic
and Genetic Disease’. Speakers
included members from across the
ACB’s regions, as well as other
academic, scientific and clinical
colleagues. The meeting closed with
anecdotes and tributes to Margaret and
the first presentations of the Margaret
Sinnott Medal. Later in the year,

we were saddened to learn of the
death of Dr Nuala McCarroll, who
worked as a principal clinical
biochemist in St James’s Hospital,
Dublin.
Members have continued to contribute
to national and international
organisations, committees and events
including the Irish National
Accreditation board, Irish Equal Quality
Assurance, Irish Molecular Diagnostics
Network, Irish Society of Human
Genetics and various clinical and
scientific working groups within the
European Federation of Laboratory
Medicine and the International
Federation of Clinical Chemistry.
Support and collaboration with clinical
colleagues and participation in the
events of other societies (e.g. the Irish
Endocrine Society) also continued.
Regional members also contributed to
the activities of the Association of
Clinical Biochemists in Ireland,
including organisation and participation
in its annual conference in October
(Dublin) where topics included
androgens and type II diabetes, ovarian
cancer, anti-Müllerian Hormone (AMH)
and trophoblastic disease. At this
meeting, the Geraldine Roberts medal
was awarded to our region’s secretary
and treasurer, Mary Stapleton (Coombe
Women and Infants University
Hospital), for her work in pre-analytics
and gestational diabetes. During the
conference, we held a special business

meeting to discuss and agree changes
to the region’s rules.
As the year draws a close, the region
prepares for another busy year
including the annual scientific meeting
on the 29th January where another
diverse programme has been organised,
with topics to include Ireland’s
National Rare Disease Plan and cell
free DNA in non-invasive cancer
diagnostics.
Scotland Region
The Scotland region had another
successful year. The first scientific
meeting, in April, was held in
Kirkcaldy, on point-of-care testing
(PoCT). Judith Strachan reported a
study of lab-versus-PoCT potassium and
lactate. She was followed by Tony
Cambridge from Derriford Hospital in
Plymouth, one of few CPA-accredited
PoCT services in the UK. This was an
inspiring talk, the message being that
clinical biochemistry departments
anywhere can deliver the highest
standards of PoCT by bringing users on
board. Jim Allison then reported the
results of a national PoCT survey in
Scotland. Though the response to this
survey had been slow and a bit patchy,
it nevertheless had a national feel
about it: 354 respondents from 10
health boards. Jim was thoughtful and
thought-provoking. His take-home
message was that a combination of
integrating PoCT results within
laboratory information management

Shona Hyman and Dr Michael Murphy at the PoCT meeting in April
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systems, and monitoring PoCT results in
real time, would vastly improve PoCT
compliance and clinical governance
outcomes. The afternoon brought more
high-quality presentations, ranging
from PoCT in a community project
(‘Keep Well’ – Shona Hyman), through
PoCT ketone measurement in
paediatrics (Gemma Gallacher), to a
session delivered by Graham Beastall
(‘Shaping the future of laboratory
medicine’), wearing his hat as recently
retired President of the IFCC. Graham
had kindly agreed to stand in at short
notice for Alan Wu. Graham, too,
was inspirational. His message was
little short of a detailed ‘pep-talk’ to
the assembled company, and provided
a reminder to his audience of what a
huge asset he has been to the
specialty.
The regional committee hosted a
two-day meeting at the end of October,
returning to Norton House beside
Edinburgh airport (long before any
mention of Forth Road Bridge
closures!). This meeting is held every
second year, and the programme was
as usual deliberately varied. Sessions
on the first day included junior
members’ papers, personalised
proficiency/EQA led by Bernie Croal,
cascade testing for familial
hypercholesterolaemia (contrasting the
Scottish and Northern Irish
experiences), and the ‘Go-Share’
project, led in Tayside by Ellie Dow
and Colin Palmer. Ellie described this
ingenious approach to the problem of
getting consent for genetic studies,
and how it works in practice. The day
finished up with an entertaining and
wide-ranging quiz, ably led by Kevin
Deans and Helen Regan. Delegates who
stayed over enjoyed an evening of
socialising.
Day 2 topics included patient access to
results (led by Maurice O’Kane),
laboratory medicine across the world
(Graham Beastall again) and inborn
errors of metabolism (Jim Bonham and
others). The meeting concluded with a
hugely enjoyable plenary lecture by
Geoff Beckett, covering the entire span
of his career and research interests
(the grainy pre-digital photos alone
were a reminder of different times),
as well as the presentation of the
John King Award to Dr Lyn Ferguson.
The Scottish Clinical Biochemistry
Managed Diagnostic Network has
delivered on some of the projects
mentioned in the 2014 report (acute

Norton House, the venue for the Scotland Region 2-day meeting in October

kidney injury, point-of-care testing
survey). Current projects being taken
forward include the adaptation of the
Diagnostic Atlas of Variation.
South West and Wessex Region
Andrew Day lead the successful
scientific programme at Focus 2015 in
Cardiff, aided by several regional
members and working jointly with ACB
Wales Region. A variety of interesting
sessions included sex steroids,
genomics, porphyria, audit, inherited
diseases, point of care testing and
mass spectrometry as well as high
standard plenary lectures and
interactive sessions.
Two regional scientific meetings were
held during the year. The March
meeting and AGM covered a variety of
endocrine-related issues, both
laboratory and clinical. They included
the molecular genetics of
neuroendocrine tumours, steroid
analysis, parathyroid surgery, obesity
and a selection of clinical cases. The
November meeting had a topical
session on the practicalities of the
diagnosis and treatment of chronic
liver disease. This was followed by a
series of lectures on neurological
topics. A session on multiple sclerosis
highlighted the advances in diagnosis
and, in particular, in therapeutics over
the last few years. Talks on
mitochondrial disorders and
immunological aspects and novel
markers of dementia all highlighted the
growing importance of the laboratory
in the field of neurology. Local
meetings continue to be very well
received by those attending, but it can
be difficult to attract delegates as the

region is so widely spread. We would
like to thank our sponsors for the
continuing support of these meetings
and also our meetings organisers over
the last three years, Aabha Sharma and
Mathangi Balasubramani. The next
meeting will again be planned jointly
with the Wales region.
The Regional Tutors and the trainees
continue to work well together. The
programme of training days started in
2014 has continued with meetings
rotating round the region, the October
meeting being held in Gloucester.
Mornings are devoted to exam
preparation and in the afternoons,
specialist speakers are invited to cover
‘not in the text book’ material. The
region continues to take STP trainees.
The 2015 intake was of three STP
trainees, one at each of Exeter,
Plymouth and Portsmouth. The figures
for the two previous years were
(2014), one each at Southmead and
Southampton; (2013) four trainees at
Plymouth and Bristol (one each) and
Gloucester (2). All trainees have
progressed well and most have
continued within the profession.
There have been no major
reorganisations in the region, but some
trusts are exploring joint working with
the private sector for service provision.
Southern Region
2015 has seen some significant changes
to the committee membership as the
present incumbents concluded their
terms of office or took leave of
absence from the Committee. Some
vacancies remain. The Southern Region
has had another year of well
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coordinated meetings with first class
scientific content and celebrations of
careers. Education has been very
focused with tutors organising
workshops and tutorials to bridge the
gap between Scientist Training
Programme (STP) training and practical
experience in less accessible areas of
the region. Trainees across the region
continue to be successful in completing
STP training and passing FRCPath
examinations.
We continue to have a high turnout at
and positive feedback for our regional
scientific meetings, which have been
coordinated by Rebecca Leyland. The
spring meeting, held in Guildford, was
entitled ‘Biochemistry at the cutting
edge of medical science’ in
commemoration of the career of
Professor Stephen Halloran MBE, who
had recently retired. This meeting was
well attended not just by Southern
Region members but by members from
far and wide, coming together to
celebrate a respected scientist and
leader in clinical science. An evening
meal was also organised. The AGM was
held in conjunction with this meeting,
and members agreed that we should
amend the number and location of
trainee representatives from London,
London (N), London (S) and outside
London to London, outside London and
East of England (EoE). The committee

was sad to say goodbye to the
incumbent Chair, Anne Tarn whose term
of office ended and welcomed Sally
Benton in her place. Other elected
members include: Berenice Lopez
(clinical practice representative) and
Anne Trewick and Zoe Maunsell-Browne
(ordinary members).
The late summer meeting ‘Biochemical
Monitoring in the Pre and Post Natal
Periods and Members’ Papers’ followed
on the success of the previous year’s
joint venture between Westminster
University and the ACB Southern
Region. The standard of the members’
papers continues to be very high. In
2015 they were judged by Emma
Walker, Neil Dalton and Marie Parsons;
Bill Richmond Prizes were awarded to
Charles van Heyningen for his
presentation on ‘Lipoprotein lipase
deficiency presenting in pregnancy:
pre- and postnatal monitoring and
treatment’ and Amy Dunne’s
presentation on ‘A case of separation
anxiety’. The winter meeting held at
Bart’s, which focused on endocrinology,
was also successful and well attended.
This year no regional awards were
made to retiring members. We actively
encourage members to notify our
committee of deserving individuals
since they may go unnoticed within our
large region.

The Guildford team at Stephen Halloran’s retirement

There were five new STP appointments
and one in-service STP who
commenced training in the Southern
Region in September 2015. The region
also has 4 HSSTs based at St Georges,
St Thomas’s, King’s and Guildford.
During the year, the committee
welcomed two new trainees; Rebecca
Stead (outside London) and Rosalind
Bray (London).
The annual Trainees’ Welcome Evening
was held at the ACB Offices in
December and followed the successful
‘National STP Elective Presentations’
organised for the first time by trainees
from our region. This welcome evening
is an excellent opportunity for new
trainees in biochemistry, immunology
and microbiology to meet the tutors,
fellow trainees and members of the
Southern Region Committee. It is also
an excellent occasion for promoting
ACB membership.
The East of England tutor, with the
support of the committee, organised
successful tutorials for local trainees,
which included clinical teaching, mock
Objective Structured Final Assessments
(OSFAs) and interview practice to fulfil
a knowledge gap between theory and
practice. It is likely these will continue
quarterly or as demand requires.
This year we co-opted Lauren Campbell
to join the committee as immunology
representative. We hope that she will
be formally elected into this role at
the next AGM. We continue to look for
a microbiology representative to serve
on the committee. The newly elected
Chair, Sally Benton, and the Treasurer
took maternity leave this year. The
Secretary will be deputising for the
Chair in the interim and a new
Treasurer, Matthew Whitlock, was
co-opted onto the Committee.
Trent, Northern and Yorkshire Region
The region hosted one scientific
meeting, together with the Yorkshire
Laboratory Medicine Discussion Group,
in Leeds in the summer. The focus was
on multidisciplinary working and
regional audit presentations, with
members attending from all corners
of the region. The ACB President,
Gwyn McCreanor, was in attendance to
present the Fellowship Award to David
Robertshaw, which highlighted the
contribution our regional members
continue to have within the ACB.
The regional committee membership
remains strong with representation
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from all disciplines and all areas of the
region. Teleconferencing has been
successful with up to 90% attendance,
and full participation in debating the
issues of the day. Despite the
limitations of teleconferencing, its use
has been acceptable to committee
members as it reduces their time out
of their departments yet allows them
to contribute time and experience to
the work of the Association. There have
been continued successes in FRCPath
examinations across the region and
different specialties, with a number of
STP trainees obtaining substantive
posts within the region. The Yorkshire
region will be hosting the ACB training
course in Autumn 2016 in Leeds.
Wales Region
The region was proud to host the
Association’s annual meeting, Focus
2015, for the first time in 30 years.
It was held at the Millennium Centre,
next door to the National Assembly for
Wales, the Senedd. Dr David Cassidy
chaired the local organising
committee, which coordinated what
feedback indicated was a successful
conference. The meeting, which was
opened by the Welsh Minister for
Health and Social Services, Professor
Mark Drakeford AM, aimed to highlight
the importance of high quality
laboratory services in helping to deliver
better healthcare for patients. It also
showcased the cutting edge role that
laboratory medicine plays in the
research of health conditions and
disease. Having your blood taken in a
supermarket for a health check was
just one of the topics debated. Other
topics included the successes and
challenges of the national screening
programme for bowel cancer, the
importance of team work when
undertaking health checks for newborn
babies, examining health, ethnicity and
diabetes in the UK and enhancing the
value of laboratory test results by
point-of-care testing. Topics of other
sessions include porphyrias, genetics,
mass spectrometry, National Metabolic
Biochemistry Network (Metbionet),
inherited muscle disease and audit.
Mr John Tovey, the previous Chair of
region, retired in March 2015 and
attended the Wales Region autumn
meeting as a guest. Professor John
Geen has taken on the role of Regional
Chair. Other new committee members
include Dr Sharman Harris (Secretary),
Dr Kelly Mitchem (Meetings Secretary),
Dr Soha Zouwail (Audit Representative)
and Mrs Susan Prosser and Mr Jon

Rachel Brixey, Sarah Tennant, John Tovey and Gareth Davies

Flowerday (ordinary members).
The strong link between regional
committee and audit committee has
been re-established and will continue.
Gareth Davies is currently updating the
Wales Region website.

(Dr Rhodri Dafydd Pyart), gestational
diabetes (Dr Brian Tennant) and
thyroid function testing during
pregnancy (Dr Liz Palmer) were
presented at the Wales Regional
Autumn Scientific Meeting.

Two ACB Wales Region Committee
meetings were held, in June and
November. Because of the national
meeting, there was no spring regional
scientific meeting this year. The
autumn regional meeting was held at
the Angel Hotel in Cardiff in November,
and was expertly organised by Dr Kelly
Mitchem. Topics included pregnancy
and endocrinology (diabetes, thyroid
function and pre-eclampsia), members’
papers and regional audits. There was
strong competition for the Members’
Award, sponsored by The Binding Site,
and the prize was awarded to Roanna
George for her excellent paper on the
effect of dried blood spot quality on
newborn screening results. The
meeting was well attended and
received positive feedback.

All STP trainees in Wales are
progressing well. The first two STPs in
clinical biochemistry have successfully
completed their training and are now
Health and Care Professions Council
(HCPC) registered clinical scientists
with substantive full time posts in
Wales. A further four STPs are currently
going through the training scheme (one
in Cwm Taf University Health Board,
two in Betsi Cadwalladr University
Health Board and one in Cardiff and
Vale University Health Board). Three
have successfully completed their first
year of training with one trainee
commencing their STP training in
September 2015.

The All Wales Clinical Biochemistry
Audit Group Committee had two
meetings, in July and November.
Annette Thomas has completed her
term of office as Chair of the
Committee and is succeeded by
Dr Soha Zouwail, with Gareth Davies as
Secretary and Angharad Shore as
Meetings Secretary. There was an Audit
Symposium at Focus 2015 and regional
audits on acute kidney injury

The ACB Wales Region funded three
travel bursaries in 2015 for attendance
at the ‘Association for Mass
Spectrometry: Applications to the
Clinical Laboratory’ European
Conference (MSACL) in Salzburg,
Austria in September. A meeting report
from Miss Gina Sanki and Dr Sally
Thirkettle was published in the
December ACB News.
In 2015 the roll out of the ‘All Wales
TrakCare LIMS’ has been completed for
clinical biochemistry services
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throughout Wales. The standardisation
groups continue to facilitate
harmonisation of reference ranges,
tests, comments, reports and demand
management rules. This will continue
into 2016, with implementation of
dynamic function tests being a priority.
West Midlands Region
The last 12 months have been
momentous in our region. The most
noteworthy feature was the
appointment of two Honorary
Professors of Clinical Biochemistry:
Sudesh Ramachandran at the
University Hospital of North Midlands
and Jonathan Berg at University
Hospital of Birmingham.
Professor Ramachandran is Consultant
Chemical Pathologist at Good Hope
Hospital, part of Heart of England
Foundation Trust. He has a national
and international reputation with
broad research interests including
skin cancer, renal disease,
endocrinology and diabetes. He has
well over 100 peer reviewed
publications including fruitful
collaborations with Professors
Richard Strange and Tony Fryer.
Professor Berg has been at the
prominent in the speciality for over
30 years. His contribution covers the
whole breadth of clinical biochemistry
from analytical innovation to being at
the forefront of using modern
platforms in communication.
His commitment to training is well
known and it is apt that he has taken
the lead in the redevelopment of the
MSc in Clinical Biochemistry in the
West Midlands.

Gina Sanki and Sally Thirkettle

Throughout the year, the region has
been active in its scientific meetings.
The spring saw a well-attended
scientific meeting at University
Hospital Birmingham concentrating on
immunology and endocrinology.
In the summer a scientific meeting was
hosted at Russell's Hall Hospital to
celebrate the career contribution of
David Vallance, who is retiring.
David had been involved with the work
of the region for over 20 years, with a
notable commitment to training.
He was instrumental in steering the
development of the former West
Midlands Training Course to become a
University of Birmingham MSc.
The equally well-attended autumn
meeting included presentations by the
region’s two new professors and a

session on bariatric medicine and
surgery.
The West Midlands Region continues
to be at both the social and academic
hearts of laboratory medicine in the
region, bringing together the full
breadth of the speciality from
trainees to pre-retirement consultants.
It remains active in training,
continued personal development and
individual mentoring.
The region looks forward to hosting
Focus 2016 at the University of
Warwick. We look forward to
welcoming our colleagues from around
the country and indeed the world to
the West Midlands for that event.
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I am pleased to be able to introduce the Association’s
financial statements on a positive note. They show a surplus
of all income over expenditure for the year of nearly £130k,
whereas in 2014, there was a loss of £72k. The difference is
largely due to the various exceptional items that I detailed
in my 2014 report not being included in the figures for 2015.
Over the past five years, the Association has shown an
average surplus of £36.37k. This figure, representing 1.35%
of annual turnover, is to my mind a reasonable one for a
membership organisation devoted primarily to providing
services – educational, publication, professional support
etc, to its members.
But, as I wrote last year, we cannot afford to be
complacent. Although we have adequate reserves to provide
for any short term decrease in our income, it is essential
that we make every effort to increase it year on year
without putting an unacceptable (and potentially
counter-productive) burden on our members, our main
source of income, many of whose incomes have increased
little, if at all, in the past few years as a result of
restrictions on public sector pay increases. Our new
contract with the SAGE Publications, the publishers of
Annals of Clinical Biochemistry, promises increasing revenue
from that source and we are working hard to make our
annual Focus meetings as successful financially as they are
undoubtedly scientifically. However, it is important that we
make every effort to grow the membership by recruiting
from all the laboratory medicine disciplines, and we need
your help to promote the Association to colleagues in your
own workplaces.

An important benefit of membership of the Association is
membership of the trade union, The Federation of Clinical
Scientists. This does not publish separate accounts but
internal procedures ensure that it trades at no net cost to
the Association. Clinical Biochemistry Conferences is a
charity owned by the Association, the funds of which can,
and are, used to support educational activities. It publishes
separate accounts, which are summarised in the overall
financial statements. The financial statements of the
Association’s other two charities are presented in summary
form in the following pages. I would particularly draw
members’ attention to the Benevolent Fund, for donations
to which we are always grateful; its funds are available to
help active and retired members and members of staff and
their dependents in times of need.
All four sets of accounts have been approved
unconditionally by our auditors and I thank them for their
work and advice. The day-to-day management of the
Association’s finances are in the capable hands of Nic Law
and Cheryl Taylor: I thank them both, personally and on
your behalf, for the excellent job that they do. I also thank
the various financial advisers who advise on the
management of our investments, and colleagues on the
Association’s Executive and Council for their support
throughout the year. I am about to start my fifth and final
year as the Association’s Director of Finance; I would be
pleased to discuss the post with any member who is
interested in the possibility of standing for election in 2017.

Director of Finance: Dr William Marshall

Expenditure

Income

Subscriptions

31.62%

Administration

36.48%

Meetings

29.90%

Education

27.74%

Publications

24.04%

Publication costs

10.69%

Other

7.91%

Council & Committee

10.29%

Income generated by Regions

4.39%

Depreciation

LabTests Online

2.13%

3.64%

Other

3.09%

Expenditure by Regions

2.59%

Scientific scholarships

2.49%

LabTests Online

2.0%

Association Membership
The total membership at 31st December 2015 (2014) was 2233 (2260) and included 34 (35) Honorary Members, 44 (41) Emeritus
Members, 35 (31) Fellow Members, 1261 (1338) Ordinary Members, 120 (117) Overseas Members, 14 (15) Student Members, 111 (113)
Federation Members, with 38 (12) Temporarily Retired and 576 (558) Permanently Retired Members. Currently, 235 Members of the
ACB have Chartered Scientist status, of which 174 registered through the Association.

Finance Report
Annual Report & Accounts 2015

26 Reports and Financial Statements

Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2015
Directors

Prof E S Kilpatrick
Dr G McCreanor
Mr P Newland
Dr W J Marshall
Dr R M Ayling (resigned 8 June 2015)
Ms C F Baillie (appointed 9 July 2015)
Mrs S C Benton (appointed 8 June 2015)
Dr F G Boa
Dr M P Bosomworth (resigned 8 June 2015)
Dr C Chaloner
Dr C Ford (resigned 8 June 2015)
Dr D B Freedman (resigned 8 June 2015)
Prof J Geen (appointed 19 November 2015)
Mr S R Goodall (resigned 8 June 2015)
Dr A J Hartland (appointed 8 June 2015)
Dr S Holding (appointed 8 June 2015)
Dr G Lee
Dr M B Leonard
Mrs M G McDonnell
Dr K L Mitchell (appointed 8 June 2015)
Dr M J Murphy
Dr M J O’Kane
Dr A C Tarn (resigned 8 June 2015)
Dr A P Taylor
Mr J A Tovey (resigned 8 June 2015)
Mr M J Waterson (appointed 8 June 2015)
Mrs A M Yates
Prof I S Young (appointed 8 June 2015)

Registered number

00863235

Registered office

130-132 Tooley Street
London SE1 2TU

Independent auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditor
202 Silbury Boulevard
Milton Keynes MK9 1LW

Bankers

HSBC Bank Plc
281 Chiswick High Road
Chiswick
London W4 4HJ

Directors’ Report
The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014.
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland'. Under Company law the directors must not
approve the financial statements unless satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the surplus or deficit of the
Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.
Results and dividends
The surplus for the year, after taxation, amounted to £129,640 (2014 – deficit £72,453).
Directors
The directors who served during the year were as listed above.
Principal risks and uncertainties
The directors have reviewed the financial risk to the Company but, because of the procedures in place for the disbursement of reserves, do not consider that
this risk is significant.
Future developments
The Association’s overall objectives remain unchanged. They include activities relating to education and training (including the organisation of regional and
national meetings), the promotion of research and development, publishing, public engagement and cooperation with nationally- and internationally-based
cognate organisations.
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Disclosure of information to auditor
Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors’ Report is approved has confirmed that:
•
•

so far as that director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware, and
that director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Post balance sheet events
There have been no significant events affecting the Company since the year end.
Auditors
Under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006, Grant Thornton UK LLP will be deemed to have been reappointed as auditor 28 days after these financial
statements were sent to members or 28 days after the latest date prescribed for filing the accounts with the registrar, whichever is earlier.
This report was approved by the board and signed on it’s behalf by
Dr W J Marshall, Director

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of The Association for Clinical Biochemistry
and Laboratory Medicine
We have audited the financial statements of The Association for Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine for the year ended 31 December 2015, which
comprise the Statement of comprehensive income, the Balance sheet, the Statement of cash flows, the Statement of changes in reserves, the Principal
accounting policies and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”.
This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditor's report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
•
•
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of its surplus for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors' report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•
•
•
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
William Devitt (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP Chartered Accountants, Milton Keynes

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2015

Note
Turnover
Gross profit
Administrative expenses

2

Unrealised gains on listed investments

2015

2014

£

£

938,302
938,302
863,687

1,192,689
1,192,689
(1,299,444)

9,135

23,027
(83,728)
21,854
(6,340)
367

Operating profit/(loss)
Income from fixed asset investments
Surplus/(deficit) on disposal of investments
Interest receivable and similar income

6

83,750
17,039
25,839
373

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities after taxation
Taxation on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities

7

127,001
2,639

(67,847)
(4,606)

129,640

(72,453)

129,640

(72,453)

Profit/(loss) for the financial year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

5

There were no recognised gains and losses for the current or previous year other than those included in the income and expenditure account.
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Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2015

2015

2014

Note

£

£

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments

8
9
10

2,040
788,844
1,547,856
2,338,740

–
818,951
1,519,438
2,338,389

Current assets
Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year
Cash at bank and in hand

11
12

263,618
464,991
728,609

213,245
494,959
708,204

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

13

388,976

(491,023)

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Provisions for liabilities
Deferred tax

339,633
2,678,373
15

(72,927)

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Profit and loss account

217,181
2,555,570
(79,764)

(72,927)
2,605,446

(79,764)
2,475,806

407,954
1,836,069
361,423
2,605,446

398,819
1,838,840
238,147
2,475,806

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf by
Dr W J Marshall, Director

Statement of Changes in Reserves
As at 31 December 2015

At 1 January 2015
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to/from profit and loss account
Transfer between other reserves
Total transfers
At 31 December 2015

Revaluation
reserve
£
398,819
–
–
–
9,135
–
9,135
407,954

Other
reserves
£
1,838,840
–
–
–
–
(2,771)
(2,771)
1,836,069

Retained
earnings
£
238,147
129,640
–
129,640
(6,364)
–
(6,364)
361,423

Total
reserves
£
2,475,806
129,640
–
129,640
2,771
(2,771)
–
2,605,446

Statement of Changes in Reserves
As at 31 December 2014

At 1 January 2014
Comprehensive income for the year
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to/from profit and loss account
Transfer between other reserves
Total transfers
At 31 December 2014
The notes on pages 30 to 34 form part of these financial statements.

Revaluation
reserve
£
375,792

Other
reserves
£
1,813,947

Retained
earnings
£
358,520

Total
reserves
£
2,548,259

–
–
–
23,027
–
23,027
398,819

–
–
–
–
24,893
24,893
1,838,840

(72,453)
–
(72,453)
(47,920)
–
(47,920)
238,147

(72,453)
–
(72,453)
(24,893)
24,893
–
2,475,806

Reports and Financial Statements 29

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2015

2015
£

2014
£

129,640

(72,453)

31,427
(373)
(2,639)
(50,373)
(100,232)
(6,013)
(9,135)
(7,698)

31,926
(367)
4,606
(60,499)
23,924
(38,013)
(23,027)
(133,903)

(2,040)
(1,320)
(247,576)
228,293
373
(22,270)

–
(52,448)
(208,612)
201,341
367
(59,352)

Net cash outgoings from investing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

(29,968)
494,959

(193,255)
688,214

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year

464,991

494,959

Cash at bank and in hand

464,991
464,991

494,959
494,959

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the financial year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of tangible assets
Interest received
Taxation
Increase in debtors
(Decrease)/increase in creditors
Decrease in amounts owed to group undertakings
Unrealised gains on listed investments
Net cash outgoings from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangible fixed assets
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Purchase of listed investments
Sale of listed investments
Interest received

Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Accounting Policies
1.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 102, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland and the Companies Act
2006.
Information on the impact first-time adoption of FRS 102 is given in note 22.
1.2 Going concern
The company's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the
company can meet its liabilities as they fall due.
On this basis, the directors consider that the company will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and
accordingly the directors consider it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis.
1.3 Turnover
Turnover comprises revenue recognised by the company in respect of goods and services supplied during the year, exclusive of Value
Added Tax and trade discounts.
Annual subscriptions are allocated according to their renewal date whichs runs synchronous with the financial year. The subscriptions
relating to the year under review are included in the income and expenditure account and those relating to the following year are
shown in creditors as prepaid subscriptions.
1.4 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. After recognition under the cost model, intangible assets are measured at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
All intangible assets are considered to have a finite useful life. If a reliable estimate of the useful life cannot be made, the useful
life shall not exceed five years.
The estimated useful lives range as follows:
Software

-

3 years

1.5 Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
The Company adds to the carrying amount of an item of fixed assets the cost of replacing part of such an item when that cost is
incurred, if the replacement part is expected to provide incremental future benefits to the Company. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives range as follows
Long-term leasehold property
Office equipment
Computer equipment

-

2% straight line
15% reducing balance
20% straight line
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1.6

Operating leases
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

1.7

Valuation of investments
Listed investments are stated at their market value as at the end of the financial period.
Other investments are valued at cost with provision being made for any permenant diminution in value.

1.8

Debtors
Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. Loans receivable are measured initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

1.9

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not more than
24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in no more than three months from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Company's cash management.

1.10 Creditors
Short term creditors are measured at the transaction price. Other financial liabilities, including intra-group loans, are measured
initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
1.11 Provisions for Liabilities
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Company a legal or constructive obligation that probably requires
settlement by a transfer of economic benefit, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are charged as an expense to the Income and expenditure account in the year that the Company becomes aware of the
obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the Balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation,
taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance sheet.
1.12 Pensions
The Company operates a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the Company has no further
payment obligations.
The contributions are recognised as an expense in the Income and expenditure account when they fall due. Amounts not paid are
shown in accruals as a liability in the Balance sheet. The assets of the plan are held separately from the Company in independently
administered funds.
The Company operates a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the Company has no further
payments obligations.
The contributions are recognised as an expense in the Income and expenditure account when they fall due. Amounts not paid are
shown in accruals as a liability in the Balance sheet. The assets of the plan are held separately from the Company in independently
administered funds.
1.13 Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the Income and expenditure account using the effective interest method.
1.14 Current and deferred taxation
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Income and expenditure account, except
that a change attributable to an item of income and expense recognised as other comprehensive income or to an item recognised
directly in equity is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company operates and generates income.
Deferred balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the Balance sheet
date, except that:
The recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal
of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits; and
Any deferred tax balances are reversed if and when all conditions for retaining associated tax allowances have been met.
Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the fair values of assets acquired and the future tax deductions available
for them and the differences between the fair values of liabilities acquired and the amount that will be assessed for tax. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
1.15 Funds
The profit and loss account are funds available at the discretion of the directors in furtherance of the general activities of the
Association which have not been designated for other purposes.
Other reserves comprise funds set aside by the directors for particular purposes. The aim and use of the funds is set out in the
notes to the financial statements.
The revaluation reserve represents the unrealised gains in connection with the listed investments held by the Association.
1.16 Financial instruments
The company only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the recognition of financial assets and
liabilities like trade and other accounts receivable and payable and other third parties, loans to related parties and investments in
non-puttable ordinary shares.
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Debt instruments that are payable or receivable within one year, typically trade payables or receivables, are measured, initially
and subsequently, at the undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration, expected to be paid or received.
Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period for objective
evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found, an impairment loss is recognised in the Income and
expenditure account.
For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between an asset’s
carrying amount and best estimate, which is an approximation of the amount that the company would receive for the asset if it
were to be sold at the balance sheet date.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Balance sheet when there is an enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
2.

Analysis of turnover
The whole of the turnover is attributable to promoting the advancement of Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine. All turnover
arose within the United Kingdom

3.

Operating profit/(loss)
The operating profit/(loss) is stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for the audit of the
company's annual account
Defined contribution pension cost
Unrealised gains on listed investments

2015
£
31,427

2014
£
31,926

8,450
12,519
(9,135)

9,700
14,986
(23,027)

2015
£
197,491
12,519
210,010

2014
£
200,735
14,986
215,721

2015
No.
7

2014
No.
7

2015
£
17,039
17,039

2014
£
21,854
21,854

2015
£
373
373

2014
£
367
367

2015
£
4,198
(6,837)
(2,639)

2014
£
–
4,606
4,606

2015
£
113,325

2014
£
(67,847)

23,573

(19,529)

4,123
(8,577)
(9,572)
(12,186)
(2,639)

1,267
(7,327)
4,606
25,589
4,606

During the year, no director received any emoluments (2014 - £NIL).
4.

Employees
Staff costs were as follows:
Wages and salaries
Cost of defined contribution scheme

The average monthly number of employees during the year was as follows:

5.

Income from investments
Income from fixed asset investments

6.

Interest receivable
Other interest receivable

7.

Taxation
Corporation tax
Current tax on profits for the year
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Taxation on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities
Factors affecting tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20%
(2014 – 21.49%). The differences are explained below:
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK of 20% (2014 – 21.49%)
Effects of:
Capital allowances for year in excess of depreciation
Income not taxable for tax purposes
Short term timing difference leading to an increase (decrease) in taxation
Other differences leading to an increase (decrease) in the tax charge
Total tax charge for the year
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8.

Intangible assets

Software
£

Cost
Additions
At 31 December 2015

2,040
2,040

Net book value
At 31 December 2015

2,040

At 31 December 2014

9.

Tangible fixed assets

–

Long-term
leasehold property

Office
equipment

Computer
equipment

Total

Cost
At 1 January 2015
Additions
Disposals
At 31 December 2015

£

£

£

£

1,068,067
–
–
1,068,067

57,263
–
–
57,263

69,468
1,320
(42,109)
28,679

1,194,798
1,320
(42,109)
1,154,009

Depreciation
At 1 January 2015
Charge for the year
Disposals
At 31 December 2015

298,837
21,361
–
320,198

28,398
4,330
–
32,728

48,612
5,736
(42,109)
12,239

375,847
31,427
(42,109)
365,165

At 31 December 2015

747,869

24,535

16,440

788,844

At 31 December 2014

769,230

28,865

20,856

818,951

Other fixed asset
investments
£
100,000
–
–
–
100,000

Total
£
1,519,438
247,576
(228,293)
9,135
1,547,856

10. Fixed asset investments
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2015
Additions
Disposals
Revaluations
At 31 December 2015

Listed
investments
£
1,419,438
247,576
(228,293)
9,135
1,447,856

At 31 December 2015

1,447,856

100,000

1,547,856

At 31 December 2014

1,419,438

100,000

1,519,438

The cost of listed investments (including cash held awaiting investment) at 31 December 2015 was £1,039,902 (2014: £1,020,619)
Other investments comprise £100,000 Lombard international bond. Accordingly they are included at cost less provision for any
permenant diminution in value.
The Association for Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine is the parent undertaking of Clinical Biochemistry Conferences,
a company limited by guarantee and a registered charity, by virtue of common control. The company was incorporated on 8 January 2003
and the objects of the charity are to advance, spread and increase the knowledge, for the public benefit, of all aspects of the study of
medical science concerned with clinical biochemistry and laboratory medicine and their diagnostic systems.
Clinical Biochemistry Conferences prepares accounts to 31 December. The latest accounts prepared for the year ended 31 December 2015
showed a loss of £14,916 (2014: £20,980) and total reserves of £103,629 (2014: £118,545).
11. Debtors
Due within one year
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

2015
£
57,046
10,835
195,737
263,618

2014
£
112,121
9,499
91,625
213,245

12. Cash and cash equivalents

2015
£
464,991
464,991

2014
£
494,959
494,959

2015
£
109,539
94,717
4,198
4,652
81,844
94,026
388,976

2014
£
95,586
100,730
–
6,994
81,178
206,535
491,023

Cash at bank and in hand

13. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Trade creditors
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Corporation tax
Taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income
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14. Financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

2015
£

2014
£

67,881
67,881

121,620
121,620

(332,204)
(332,204)

(411,179)
(411,179)

The Association accounts for all financial assets and liabilities as basic financial instruments in accordance with FRS102 and has no
financial instruments carried at fair value through profit and loss.
15. Deferred taxation

2015
£
(79,764)
6,837
(72,927)

At 1 January 2015
Charged to the profit or loss
At 31 December 2015

16. Company status
The company is a private company limited by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital. Each of the members is liable to
contribute an amount not exceeding £1 towards the assets of the company in the event of liquidation.
17. Reserves
Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve represents the unrealised increase in market value above original cost on listed investments held at the end
of the financial period.
Other reserves
The fixed asset fund represents the balance of the Association's funds that are invested in tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and
investments at cost, less the balance of the loan owed to Clinical Biochemistry Conferences.
Profit and loss account
Includes all other current and prior period retained profits and losses.
18. Capital commitments
At 31 December 2015 the Company had capital commitments as follows:
Contracted for but not provided in these financial statements

2015
£
13,271
13,271

2014
£
-

19. Pension commitments
The company operates a defined contribution Group Stakeholder pension scheme for the benefit of the employees. The assets of the
scheme are administered by trustees in a fund independent from those of the company. The pension cost charge represents
contributions payable by the company to the employees' personal plans and amount to £12,519 (2014: £14,986). Contributions totalling
£761 (2014: £571) were payable to the fund at the balance sheet date and are included in other creditors.
20. Commitments under operating leases
At 31 December 2015 the Company had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:
2014
£
Contracts expiring: After more than 5 years
584,700
584,700

2015
£
585,000
585,000

The commitment relates to yearly rent in respect of the property leases, there were 983 years remaining on the operating lease as at
31 December 2015 (2014: 984).
21. Related Party Transactions
At 31 December 2015 £94,717 (2014: £100,730) was due to Clinical Biochemistry Conferences, a subsidiary of the Association, in the form
of an interest-free loan.
At 31 December 2015 £4,232 (2014: £4,232) was due from C P Stewart Memorial Fund, a charity of which Dr W J Marshall, Prof E S
Kilpatrick, Dr G McCreanor and Mr P Newland are trustees.
During the year income of £30,000 (2014: £30,000) was received and purchases of £24,787 (2014: £35,884) were made to Lab Tests Online
UK, of which Dr D B Freedman and Dr W J Marshall are trustees.
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22. First time adoption of FRS 102

Fixed assets
Current assets
Creditors:
amounts falling
due within one
year
Net current
assets
Total assets less
current liabilities
Provisions for
liabilities
Net assets

As previously
Effect of
FRS 102
As previously
Effect of
FRS 102
stated
transition
(as restated)
stated
transition
(as restated)
1 January 2014 1 January 2014 1 January 2014 31 December 2014 31 December 2014 31 December 2014
£
£
£
£
£
£
1,911,777
375,792
2,287,569
1,939,570
398,819
2,338,389
841,036
841,036
708,204
708,204

Capital and reserves

(505,187)

-

(505,187)

(491,023)

-

(491,023)

335,849

-

335,849

217,181

-

217,181

2,247,626

375,792

2,623,418

2,156,751

398,819

2,555,570

2,247,626

(75,158)
300,634

(75,158)
2,548,260

2,156,751

(79,764)
319,055

(79,764)
2,475,806

2,247,626

300,634

2,548,260

2,156,751

319,055

2,475,806

22. First time adoption of FRS 102 (continued)

Turnover
Administrative expenses
Other operating income
Operating profit
Income from fixed asset investments
Deficit on disposal of investments
Interest receivable and similar income
Taxation
Loss on ordinary activities after taxation and for the financial year

As previously
Effect of
FRS 102
stated
transition
(as restated)
31 December 2014 31 December 2014 31 December 2014
£
£
£
1,192,689
1,192,689
1,192,689
(1,299,444)
(106,755)
21,854
(6,340)
367
-

23,027
23,027
(4,606)

1,192,689
(1,299,444)
23,027
(83,728)
21,854
(6,340)
367
(4,606)

(90,874)

18,421

(72,453)

Explanation of changes to previously reported profit and reserves:
1 Listed investments have been restated from cost to market value with any unrealised gains charged to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. Deferred tax arising on the unrealised gains on listed investments has also been recognised.
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Represented by the Benevolent Fund Committee
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Dr G McCreanor (from 8 June 2015)
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Bankers
HSBC Bank Plc
281 Chiswick High Road
Chiswick
London
W4 4HJ

Trustees’ Report
The Trustees present their annual report and financial statements of the charity for the year ended 30th September 2015. The financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1 to the accounts and comply with the charity's Trust deed, the Charities Act 2011 and
Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland published on 16 July 2014.

Structure, Governance and Management
Constitution
The charity is governed by a Deed of Trust dated 24 October 1967 as amended by Deed and Resolution dated 15 May 2013.
Method of appointment or election of Trustees
The management of the charity is the responsibility of the Trustees who are elected and co opted under the terms of the Articles of Association.
The Trustees meet on an ad hoc basis to consider issues. Day to day decisions in relation to the organisation and management of the Fund are contracted to a
third party.
New Trustees are appointed by the Trustees with reference to the needs of the business and the particular attributes of the individuals under consideration.
Induction and training of new Trustees is conducted by the secretary.
Key management personnel remuneration
The Trustees consider the board of Trustees as comprising the key management personnel of the charity in charge of directing and controlling the charity and
running and operating the charity on a day to day basis. All Trustees give of their time freely and no Trustee remuneration or expenses were paid in the year.

Objectives and Activities
Policies and objectives
The objective of the charity is the help of necessitous persons who are or have been members or employees of the Association whether they are subscribers to
the Fund or not and the dependents of deceased or disabled past or present members or employees of the Association.

Achievements and performance
Going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the charity has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the
adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Accounting Policies.
Review of activities
The net incoming resources for the period were £663 (2014: £1,126).

Financial review
Principal risks and uncertainties
The Trustees have reviewed all major risks to which the charity is exposed and established systems to mitigate them. The Trustees have been aware of the
charity’s dependence on the Trustees own time and energies, voluntarily donated.
Reserves policy
It is the policy of the charity to maintain unrestricted funds which are adequate to fulfil the objectives of the charity, subject to the limitations placed on the
use of funds which has resulted in reserves building up to the current level. Any surplus funds are held in investments or short term deposits to help maintain the
income levels for future years. Limited amounts have been paid to beneficiaries over the past few years and the Trustees will endeavour to find suitable persons
whom the charity can help.
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Other considerations
Public benefit
The Trustees have given due consideration to Charity Commission published guidance on the public benefit requirements. The Trust constitutes public benefit
entity as defined by FRS102.
Trustees' responsibilities in relation to the financial statements
The charity Trustees are responsible for preparing a Trustees' annual report and financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
The law applicable to charities in England and Wales requires the charity Trustees to prepare financial statements for each year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources and application of resources, of the charity for that period. In preparing the financial
statements, the Trustees are required to:
•
•
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
observe the methods and principles in the applicable Charities SORP;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures that must be disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included on the charity's website in accordance with
legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements.
The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and
to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the applicable Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations, and the
provisions of the Trust deed. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.
This report was approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by
Dr W J Marshall, Trustee

Independent Examiner’s Report
I report on the financial statements of the charitable company for the year ended 31 December 2015 which are set out on pages 7 to 12 of the full report.
This report is made solely to the charitable company's Trustees, as a body, in accordance with section 145 of the Charities Act 2011 and regulations made under
section 154 of that Act. My work has been undertaken so that I might state to the charitable company's Trustees those matters I am required to state to them in
an Independent Examiner's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the charitable company and the charitable company's Trustees as a body, for my work or for this report.
Respective Responsibilities of Trustees and Examiner
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements. The Trustees consider that an audit is not required for this year under section
1/11(2) of the Charities Act 2011 (the Act) and that an independent examination is needed.
Having satisfied myself that the charitable company is not subject to audit under charity or company law and is eligible for independent examination, it is my
responsibility to:
•
•
•

examine the financial statements under section 145 of the Act;
follow the procedures laid down in the general Directions given by the Charity Commission under section 145(5)(b) of the Act; and
state whether particular matters have come to my attention.

Basis of Independent Examiner’s Report
My examination was carried out in accordance with the general Directions given by the Charity Commission. An examination includes a review of the accounting
records kept by the charitable company and a comparison of the financial statements presented with those records. It also includes consideration of any unusual
items or disclosures in the financial statements, and seeking explanations from you as Trustees concerning any such matters. The procedures undertaken do not
provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, and consequently no opinion is given as to whether the financial statements present a ‘true and fair
view’ and the report is limited to those matters set out in the statement below.
Independent Examiner’s Statement
In connection with my examination, no matter has come to my attention:
(1) which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect the requirements:
•
to prepare financial statements which accord with the accounting records and comply with the methods and principles of the Statement of
Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102) published on 16 July 2014;
have not been met; or
(2) to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a proper understanding of the financial statements to be reached.
William Devitt FCA
For and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Milton Keynes

Statement of Financial Activities
For the year ended 31 December 2015
Unrestricted funds
2015
£

Total funds
2015
£

Unrestricted funds
2014
£

Total funds
2014
£

1,281
1,281

1,281
1,281

1,126
1,126

1,126
1,126

Expenditure
Charitable activities

618

618

-

-

Total expenditure

618

618

-

-

Incoming
Donations
Total income

Net income and movement in funds
Total funds at 1 January 2015
Total funds at 31 December 2015

663

663

1,126

1,126

52,330
52,993

52,330
52,993

51,204
52,330

51,204
52,330
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2015
Unrestricted
funds
£
Current assets
Cash at bank
Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year

Total funds
2015
£

Total funds
2014
£

53,611

52,330

(618)

–

Net current assets

52,993

52,330

Total assets less current liabilities

52,993

52,330

Charity funds
Unrestricted funds

52,993

52,330

Total Funds

52,993

52,330

The financial statements were approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by
Dr W J Marshall, Trustee
This report is a summary of the full report of financial activities, a copy of which may be obtained on application to the Association's office or is available
on the Association’s website.
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Trustees’ Report
The Trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements of the charity for the year ended 31 December 2015. The financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1 to the accounts and comply with the charity's trust deed, the Charities and
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006(as amended) and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement
of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland published on 16 July 2014.

Structure, Governance and Management
Constitution
The charity is governed by a Deed of Trust dated 29 January 1974.
Method of appointment or election of Trustees
The management of the charity is the responsibility of the Trustees who are elected and co opted under the terms of the Articles of Association.
The Trustees meet on an ad hoc basis to consider issues. Day to day decisions in relation to the organisation and management of the Fund are contracted to a
third party.
New Trustees are appointed by the board with reference to the needs of the business and the particular attributes of the individuals under consideration.
Induction and training of new Trustees is conducted by the Secretary.
Key management personnel remuneration
The Trustees consider the board of Trustees as comprising the key management personnel of the charity in charge of directing and controlling the charity and
running and operating the charity on a day to day basis. All Trustees give of their time freely and no Trustee remuneration or expenses were paid in the year.

Objectives and Activities
Policies and objectives
The principal objective of the charity is to fund the advancement of scientific knowledge and education by providing financial support to enable scientists to
visit laboratories within the United Kingdom or elsewhere for the purposes of learning specialised techniques or to obtain first hand knowledge from a
recognised expert in a field that would assist them in their studies.

Achievements and performance
Going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the charity has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the
adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Accounting Policies.
Review of activities
The net outgoing resources for the period were £556 (2014: net outgoing resources of £1,174).

Financial review
Principal risks and uncertainties
The Trustees have reviewed all major risks to which the charity is exposed and established systems to mitigate them. The Trustees have been aware of the
charity’s dependence on the Trustees own time and energies, voluntarily donated.
Reserves policy
It is the policy of the charity to maintain unrestricted funds which are adequate to fulfil the objectives of the charity, subject to the limitations placed on the
use of funds which has resulted in reserves building up to their current level. Any surplus funds are held in short term money market deposits to help maintain
the income levels for future years.

Other considerations
Public benefit
The Trustees have given due consideration to Charity Commission published guidance on the public benefit requirements. The Trust constitutes a public benefit
entity as defined by FRS102.
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Trustees' responsibilities in relation to the financial statements
The charity Trustees are responsible for preparing a Trustees' annual report and financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
The law applicable to charities in Scotland, England and Wales requires the charity Trustees to prepare financial statements for each year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources and application of resources, of the charity for that period. In preparing the
financial statements, the Trustees are required to:
•
•
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
observe the methods and principles in the applicable Charities SORP;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures that must be disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included on the charity's website. Legislation in the
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and
to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the
Charity Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended), the applicable Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations, and the provisions of the Trust deed.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.
This report was approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by
Dr W J Marshall, Trustee

Independent Examiner’s Report
I report on the financial statements of the charitable company for the year ended 31 December 2015 which are set out on pages 7 to 12 of the full report. This
report is made solely to the charitable company's Trustees, as a body, in accordance with Section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act
2005 and regulation 11 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. My work has been undertaken so that I might state to the charity’s Trustees those
matters I am required to state to them in an Independent examiner's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the charity’s Trustees as a body, for my work or for this report.
Respective Responsibilities of Trustees and Examiner
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the terms of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act
2005 (the Act), and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 as amended by the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2010 (the
Accounts Regulations). The trustees consider that the audit requirements of Regulation 10(1) of the Charities (Scotland) Regulations 2006 do not apply, and that
an independent examination is needed. Having satisfied myself that the charity is not subject to audit under charitable law and is eligible for independent
examination, it is my responsibility to examine the financial statements as required under section 44(1) (c) of the Act and to state whether particular matters
have come to my attention.
Basis of Independent Examiner’s Report
My examination was carried out in accordance with regulation 11 of the Accounts Regulations. An examination includes a review of the accounting records kept
by the charitable company and a comparison of the financial statements presented with those records. It also includes consideration of any unusual items or
disclosures in the financial statements, and seeking explanations from you as Trustees concerning any such matters. The procedures undertaken do not provide
all the evidence that would be required in an audit, and consequently no opinion is given as to whether the accounts present a 'true and fair' view and the
report is limited to those matters set out in the statement below.
Independent Examiner’s Statement
In connection with my examination, no matter has come to my attention:
(1) which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect the requirements:
• to keep accounting records in accordance with Section 44(1)(a) of the Act, Regulation 4 of the 2006 Regulations;
• the accounts agree with those accounting records;
• the accounts prepared under Regulation 8 of the 2006 Regulations comply with the requirements of Regulation 8 of the 2006 Regulations;
• the accounts comply with the methods and principles set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice Accounting and Reporting by Charities
(preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102)) issued
by the Charity Commission and any subsequent amendments or variations to this statement
have not been met; or
(2) to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a proper understanding of the financial statements to be reached.
William Devitt FCA
For and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Milton Keynes

Statement of Financial Activities
For the year ended 31 December 2015
Unrestricted funds
2015
£

Total funds
2015
£

Unrestricted funds
2014
£

Total funds
2014
£

Income
Investment income

62

62

62

62

Total income

62

62

62

62

618
618

618
618

1,236
1,236

1,236
1,236

(556)

(556)

(1,174)

(1,714)

21,585
20,411

21,585
20,411

Expenditure
Charitable activities
Total expenditure
Net expenditure and movement in funds
Total funds at 1 January 2015
Total funds at 31 December 2015

20,411
19,855

20,411
19,855
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2015
Unrestricted funds
2015
£

Total funds
2015
£

£

Current assets
Cash at bank

23,476

23,414

Liabilities
Creditors: falling due
within one year

(3,621)

(3,003)

Total funds
2014
£

Net current assets

19,855

20,411

Total assets less current liabilities

19,855

20,411

Charity funds
Unrestricted funds

19,855

20,411

Total funds

19,855

20,411

The financial statements were approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by
Dr W J Marshall, Trustee
This report is a summary of the full report of financial activities, a copy of which may be obtained on application to the Association's office or is available
on the Association’s website.
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